Positively curved manifolds with symmetry

By Burkhard Wilking

Abstract

There are very few examples of Riemannian manifolds with positive sectional curvature known. In fact in dimensions above 24 all known examples are diffeomorphic to locally rank one symmetric spaces. We give a partial explanation of this phenomenon by showing that a positively curved, simply connected, compact manifold (M, g) is up to homotopy given by a rank one symmetric space, provided that its isometry group $\operatorname{Iso}(M, g)$ is large. More precisely we prove first that if $\dim(\operatorname{Iso}(M, g)) \geq 2\dim(M) - 6$, then M is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space or M is homogeneous. Secondly, we show that in dimensions above $18(k+1)^2 \operatorname{each} M$ is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space, where k > 0 denotes the cohomogeneity, $k = \dim(M/\operatorname{Iso}(M, g))$.

Introduction

Studying positively curved manifolds is a classical theme in differential geometry. So far there are very few constraints known. For example there is not a single obstruction known that distinguishes the class of simply connected compact manifolds that admit positively curved metrics from the class of simply connected compact manifolds that admit nonnegatively curved metrics. On the other hand the list of known examples is rather short as well. In particular, in dimensions other than 6, 7, 12, 13 and 24 all known simply connected positively curved examples are diffeomorphic to rank one symmetric spaces. To advance the theory, Grove (1991) proposed to classify positively curved manifolds with a large amount of symmetry. This program may also be viewed as part of a philosophy of W.-Y. Hsiang that in each category one should pay particular attention to those objects with a large amount of symmetry. Another possible motivation is that once one understands the obstructions to positive curvature under symmetry assumptions one might get an idea for a general obstruction. Our investigations here will also give new insights for orbit spaces of linear group actions on spheres which — when applied to slice representations — have consequences for general group actions as well. However, the main hope is that the classifying process will lead toward the construction of new examples.

The three most natural constants measuring the amount of symmetry of a Riemannian manifold (M, g) are:

$$symrank(M, g) = rank(Iso(M, g)),$$

$$symdeg(M, g) = dim(Iso(M, g)),$$

$$cohom(M, g) = dim((M, g)/Iso(M, g)),$$

where $\operatorname{Iso}(M,g)$ denotes the isometry group of (M,g). In [22] we analyzed manifolds where the symmetry rank is large, and obtained extensions of results of Grove and Searle [11]. The main new tool was the observation that for a totally geodesic embedded submanifold N^{n-h} of a positively curved manifold M^n the inclusion map $N^{n-h} \to M^n$ is (n-2h+1)-connected; see Theorem 1.2 (connectedness lemma) below for a definition and further details. The result is also crucial for the present paper in which we consider positively curved manifolds that have either large symmetry degree or low cohomogeneity. The main results in this context are

THEOREM 1. Let (M^n, g) be a simply connected Riemannian manifold of positive sectional curvature. If symdeg $(M^n, g) \ge 2n - 6$, then M is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space or isometric to a homogeneous space of positive sectional curvature.

THEOREM 2. Let M be a simply connected positively curved manifold. Suppose

$$\operatorname{symrank}(M, g) > 3 \operatorname{cohom}(M, g) + 3.$$

Then M is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space or $\operatorname{cohom}(M, g) = 0$.

COROLLARY 3. Let $k \ge 1$. In dimensions above $18(k+1)^2$ each simply connected Riemannian manifold M^n of cohomogeneity k with positive sectional curvature is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space.

We recall that a homotopy equivalence between manifolds $f: M_1 \to M_2$ is called tangential if the pull back bundle f^*TM_2 is stably isomorphic to the tangent bundle TM_1 . It is known that a compact manifold has the tangential homotopy type of \mathbb{HP}^m if and only if it is homeomorphic to \mathbb{HP}^m . In general it is known that while there are infinitely many diffeomorphism types of simply connected homotopy \mathbb{CP}^n 's in a given even dimension 2n > 4 there are only finitely many with the tangential homotopy type of a rank one symmetric

608

space. For the case of a nonsimply connected manifold M we refer the reader to the end of Section 13.

In dimension seven Theorem 1 is optimal, as there are nonhomogeneous positively curved Eschenburg examples $SU(3)//S^1$ with symmetry degree 7. The simply connected positively curved homogeneous spaces have been classified by Berger [4], Wallach [20] and Berard Bergery [3]. By this classification, exceptional spaces — spaces which are not diffeomorphic to rank one symmetric spaces — only occur in dimensions 6, 7, 12, 13 and 24, and all of these spaces satisfy the hypothesis of Theorem 1.

Of course this classification also implies that Corollary 3 remains valid with k = 0 if one replaces the lower bound by 24. Verdiani [19] has shown that an even dimensional simply connected positively curved cohomogeneity one manifold is diffeomorphic to a rank one symmetric space. This fails in odd dimensions where a classification is open. In higher cohomogeneity ($k \ge 2$) only very little is known. A notably exception is the theorem of Hsiang and Kleiner [14] stating that a compact positively curved orientable four manifold is homeomorphic to \mathbb{S}^4 or \mathbb{CP}^2 , provided that it admits a nontrivial isometric action by \mathbb{S}^1 . Grove and Searle realized that the proof of this result can be phrased naturally in terms of Alexandrov geometry of the orbit space M^4/\mathbb{S}^1 which in turn allowed them to classify fixed-point homogeneous manifolds of positive sectional curvature; see Section 1 for a definition.

To the best of the authors knowledge there are no manifolds known which have a large amount of symmetry and which are homotopically equivalent but not diffeomorphic to \mathbb{CP}^n or \mathbb{HP}^n . So it is quite possible that one could improve the conclusions of Theorem 1 and Corollary 3 for purely topological reasons. If the manifold M^n in Corollary 3 is a homotopy sphere, we can combine the connectedness lemma (Theorem 1.2) with the work of Davis and Hsiang [7] to strengthen its conclusion. Recall that for suitably chosen p and q the Brieskorn variety

$$\Sigma^{2m-1}(p,q) := \left\{ (z_0, \dots, z_m) \in \mathbb{C}^{m+1} \mid z_0^p + z_1^q + z_2^2 + \dots + z_m^2 = 0 \right\} \cap \mathbb{S}^{2m+1}$$

is homeomorphic to a sphere; see Brieskorn [6]. Clearly $\Sigma^{2m-1}(p,q)$ is invariant under an action of O(m-1).

THEOREM 4. Let (M^n, g) be a homotopy sphere admitting a positively curved cohomogeneity k metric with $n \ge 18(k+1)^2$. Then there is an effective isometric action of $\operatorname{Sp}(d)$ on M with $d \ge \frac{n+1}{4(k+1)} - 2$ such that one of the following holds.

a) M^n is equivariantly diffeomorphic to \mathbb{S}^n endowed with an action of $\mathsf{Sp}(d)$, which is induced by a representation $\rho \colon \mathsf{Sp}(d) \to \mathsf{O}(n+1)$.

BURKHARD WILKING

b) The dimension n = 2m+1 is odd, and M is equivariantly diffeomorphic to $\Sigma^{2m+1}(p,q)$ endowed with an action of $\mathsf{Sp}(d)$ induced by a representation $\rho \colon \mathsf{Sp}(d) \to \mathsf{O}(m).$

In either case the representation ρ decomposes as a trivial and r times the 4*d*-dimensional standard representation of Sp(d), where $r \leq d/2$ in case a) and $r \leq d/4$ in case b). In even dimensions the theorem implies that Mis diffeomorphic to a sphere. We do not claim that Sp(d) can be chosen as a normal subgroup of $Iso(M, g)_0$, but see also Proposition 14.1.

The above results do not provide any evidence for new examples. On the other hand, Theorem 2 suggests that it might be realistic to classify positively curved manifolds of low cohomogeneity (say one or two) in all dimensions. At least the new techniques introduced here should allow one to reduce the problem to a short list of possible candidates.

Next we want to mention some of the new tools that we establish during the proof of the above results. We adopt a philosophy promoted by Grove and Searle and view group actions on positively curved manifolds as generalized representations. The main strategy is to establish a common behavior. In some instances the results might not be trivial for representations either. A central theme is to gain control on the principal isotropy group of the isometric group action. The first crucial new tool in this context is

LEMMA 5 (Isotropy Lemma). Let G be a compact Lie group acting isometrically and not transitively on a positively curved manifold (M, g) with nontrivial principal isotropy group H. Then any nontrivial irreducible subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H is equivalent to a subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of K/H, where K is an isotropy group.

We will also see that one may choose K such that the orbit type of K has codimension 1 in the orbit space. In that case K/H is a sphere. In particular, the orbit space must have a boundary if H is not trivial. For an orbit space M/G with boundary, a face is the closure of a component of a codimension 1 orbit type. A face is necessarily part of the boundary and the boundary may or may not have more than one face.

It turns out that the lemma is useful for general group actions on manifolds, as well. The lemma applied to slice representations plays a vital role in the proof of the following theorem which does not need curvature assumptions. We recall that for a group action of a Lie group G on a manifold Mwith principal orbit G/H the core M_{cor} (or principal reduction) is defined as the union of those components of the fixed-point set Fix(H) of H that project surjectively to M/G. We define a core domain of such a group action as follows. Let $M_{pr} \subset M$ be the open and dense subset of principal orbits, and let B_{pr} be a component of the fixed-point set of H in M_{pr} . Then a core domain is the closure of $B_{\rm pr}$ in M. Clearly $\bar{B}_{\rm pr}$ is invariant under the action of the identity component $N(\mathsf{H})_0$ of the normalizer of H .

THEOREM 6. Let G be a connected compact Lie group acting smoothly on a simply connected manifold M with principal isotropy group H. Choose not necessarily different points p_1, \ldots, p_f in a core domain \overline{B}_{pr} such that each of the f faces of M/G contains at least one of the orbits $G \star p_1, \ldots, G \star p_f$.

If $\mathsf{K} \subset \mathsf{G}$ is a compact subgroup containing $N(\mathsf{H})_0$ as well as the isotropy groups of the points p_1, \ldots, p_f , then there is an equivariant smooth map $M \to \mathsf{G}/\mathsf{K}$.

Notice that if all faces of the orbit space intersect, one may choose $p_1 = \cdots = p_f$ as one point on the orbit of this intersection. If the orbit space has no boundary, one may choose $\mathsf{K} = N(\mathsf{H})_0$. The theorem should be useful in other contexts as well, as it is a simple statement that guarantees the failure of primitivity of an action. Recall that a smooth action of a Lie group G on a manifold M is called primitive if there is no smooth equivariant map $M \to \mathsf{G}/\mathsf{L}$ with $\mathsf{L} \subsetneq \mathsf{G}$.

As a consequence of Theorem 6 we show that the identity component of H decomposes in at most 2f factors, provided that we assume in addition that the action is primitive (Corollary 11.1) or that it leaves a positively curved complete metric invariant (Corollary 12.1). This way one gets restrictions on the principal isotropy group in terms of the geometry (number of faces) of the orbit space.

In order to control the latter one uses Alexandrov geometry. Recall that the orbit space $(M, g)/\mathsf{G}$ of an isometric group action on a positively curved manifold is positively curved in the Alexandrov sense. It is then easy to see that the distance function of a face F in M/G is strictly concave. This elementary observation can be utilized to give an optimal upper bound on the number of faces.

THEOREM 7. Let G be a compact Lie group acting almost effectively and isometrically on a compact manifold (M,g) with a positively curved orbit space (M,g)/G of dimension k. Then:

- a) The number of faces of the orbit space is bounded by (k + 1). If equality holds then M/G is a stratified space homeomorphic to a k-simplex.
- b) If the orbit space has l + 1 < k + 1 faces, then it is homeomorphic to the join of an l-simplex and the space that is given by the intersection of all faces.

On positively curved orbit spaces there is also a nice duality between faces and points of maximal distance to a face. More precisely there is a unique point $\mathsf{G} \star q \in M/\mathsf{G}$ of maximal distance to a face $F \subset M/\mathsf{G}$, and the normal bundle of the orbit $\mathsf{G} \star q \subset M$ is equivariantly diffeomorphic to the manifold that is obtained from M by removing all orbits belonging to F; see the soul orbit theorem (Theorem 4.1).

The previously mentioned tools are mainly used to control the principal isotropy group of an isometric group action on a positively curved manifold. The final tool we would like to mention assumes that one already has control on the principal isotropy group. To motivate this, consider the representation of Sp(d) which is given by h times the 4d-dimensional standard representation. The principal isotropy group of this representation is given by a (d-h) block. It is straightforward to check that the isometry type of the orbit space $\mathbb{R}^{4hd}/Sp(d)$ is independent of d as long as h < d. It turns out that this stability phenomenon can be recovered in a far more general context.

THEOREM 8 (Stability Theorem). Let (G_d, u) be one of the pairs (Spin(d), 1), (SU(d), 2) or (Sp(d), 4). Suppose G_d acts nontrivially and isometrically on a simply connected Riemannian manifold M^n (no curvature assumptions) with principal isotropy group H. We assume that H contains a subgroup H' which up to conjugacy is a lower $k \times k$ block for some integer $k \ge 2$ and $k \ge 3$ if u = 1, 2. Assume also that k is maximal. Then the following are true:

- a) There is a Riemannian manifold M_1 with an action of G_{d+1} , that contains M as a totally geodesic submanifold and $\dim(M_1) \dim(M) = u(d-k)$.
- b) The orbit spaces M/G_d and M_1/G_{d+1} are isometric and $\operatorname{cohom}(M,g) = \operatorname{cohom}(M_1,g)$.
- c) If k ≥ d/2, then the sectional curvature of M₁ attains its maximum and minimum in M.

We emphasize that M_1 is not given as $M \times_{\mathsf{G}_d} \mathsf{G}_{d+1}$. Clearly one can iterate the theorem and get a chain of Riemannian manifolds

$$M =: M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots,$$

where M_i admits an isometric action of G_{d+i} and all inclusions are totally geodesic.

If we assume in addition that the manifold M is compact and has an invariant positively curved metric, then we will see that M as well as M_i is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space, see Theorem 5.1. The combination of Theorem 5.1 and the isotropy lemma is also crucial for the proof of the following result.

THEOREM 9. Let G be a Lie group acting isometrically and with finite kernel on a positively curved simply connected Riemannian manifold (M, g). Suppose the principal isotropy group H contains a simple subgroup H' of rank ≥ 2 . If dim $(M) \geq 235$, then M has the integral cohomology ring of a rank one symmetric space.

Contents

- 1. Preliminaries
- 2. Proof of the stability theorem
- 3. Isotropy lemmas
- 4. Soul orbits
- 5. Recovery of the tangential homotopy type of a chain
- 6. The linear model of a chain
- 7. Homogeneous spaces with spherical isotropy representations
- 8. Exceptional actions with large principal isotropy groups
- 9. Proof of Theorem 9
- 10. Positively curved manifolds with large symmetry degree
- 11. Group actions with nontrivial principal isotropy groups
- 12. On the number of factors of principal isotropy groups
- 13. Proof of Theorem 2
- 14. Proof of Corollary 3 and Theorem 4.

The theorems are not proved in the order in which they are stated. In Section 1 we survey some of the results in the literature which are crucial for our paper.

Next we establish the stability theorem (Theorem 8) in Section 2. One of the main difficulties in the proof is to show that the constructed metrics are of class C^{∞} . We establish preliminary results in subsection 2.1 and subsection 2.3, and put the pieces together in subsection 2.4.

In Section 3 we will prove the isotropy lemma (Lemma 5) as well as several generalizations of it. The isotropy lemma guarantees that certain orbit spaces have codimension one strata (faces). In Section 4 we will show that to each face of a positively curved orbit space corresponds precisely to one soul orbit, the unique point of maximal distance to the face. Theorem 4.1 (soul orbit theorem) also summarizes some of the main properties of soul orbits. For us the main application is that the inclusion map of the soul orbit into the manifold is l-connected, provided that the inverse image of the face has codimension l + 1 in the manifold. Theorem 4.1 is also important for the proof of Theorem 7 which is contained in Section 4, too.

Section 5 contains the first main application of the techniques established by then. Theorem 5.1 provides a sufficient criterion for a manifold to be tangentially homotopically equivalent to a compact rank one symmetric space (CROSS). The hypothesis is the same as in the stability theorem except that we now assume an invariant metric of positive sectional curvature on the manifold. The main strategy for recovering the homotopy type of M is to consider the limit space $M_{\infty} = \bigcup M_i$ of the chain $M = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots$. As a consequence of the connectedness lemma (Theorem 1.2), we will show that M_{∞} has a periodic cohomology ring. On the other hand, we will use the soul orbit theorem (Theorem 4.1) to show that M_{∞} has the homotopy type of the classifying space of a compact Lie group. By combination of both statements it easily follows that M_{∞} has the homotopy type of a point, \mathbb{CP}^{∞} or \mathbb{HP}^{∞} . The connectedness lemma then allows us to recover the homotopy type of M.

It will turn out that the recovery of the tangential homotopy type is more or less equivalent to determining the isotropy representation at a soul orbit. For the latter task several theorems of Bredon on group actions on cohomology CROSS'es are very useful.

Section 6 contains another refinement of Theorem 5.1. We will show that under the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 one can find a linear model for the simply connected manifold M. That is, M is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space S, and there is a linear action of the same group on S such that the isotropy groups of the two actions are in one to one correspondence.

In Section 7 we classify homogeneous spaces G/H, with H and G being compact and simple and with spherical isotropy representations, i.e., any nontrivial irreducible subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H is transitive on the sphere. The only reason why we are interested in this problem is that, by Lemma 3.4, the identity component of the principal isotropy group of an isometric group action on a positively curved manifold has a spherical isotropy representation.

This in turn is used in Section 8, where we analyze the following situation. What pairs (G, H') occur if we consider isometric group actions of a simple Lie group G on a positively curved manifold M whose principal isotropy group contains a simple normal subgroup H' of rank ≥ 2 . It turns out that these are precisely the pairs occurring for linear actions on spheres. If we assume that the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 is not satisfied for the action of G on M, then 14 pairs occur. This allows us to prove Theorem 9 in Section 9 and Theorem 1 in Section 10.

Section 11 might be of independent interest as it does not make use of any curvature assumptions. We prove Theorem 6 as well as applications.

In Section 12 we use these results in order to show that the principal isotropy group of an almost effective isometric group action on a positively curved compact manifold contains at most 2f factors, where f denotes the number of faces of the orbit space. This is essential for the proof of Theorem 2 in Section 13. We actually first prove a special case. In fact Proposition 13.1

says that the conclusion holds if $\operatorname{symrank}(M,g) > 9(\operatorname{cohom}(M,g)+1)$. The proof of this case is more straightforward and does not use the results of Section 8.

The proof of Theorem 2 can be briefly outlined as follows. We consider the cohomogeneity k action of $L = \text{Iso}(M, g)_0$ on the positively curved manifold (M, g). First, as has 4 observed by Püttmann [16], one can use an old lemma of Berger [4] to bound the corank of the principal isotropy group P from above by (k + 1),

$$\operatorname{rank}(\mathsf{P}) \ge \operatorname{rank}(\mathsf{L}) - k - 1 > 2(k+1);$$

see rank lemma (Proposition 1.4) for a slightly refined version. As mentioned above we show that P has at most 2f factors, where f denotes the number of faces of M/L; see Corollary 12.1. Because of $f \leq k + 1$ (Theorem 7) these two statements yield the first crucial step in the proof of Theorem 2, namely the principal isotropy group P contains a simple normal subgroup of rank at least 2. It is then straightforward to show that this subgroup is contained in a normal simple subgroup G of L. Thereby we obtain an isometric action of a simple group G on M whose principal isotropy group H contains a simple normal subgroup H' of rank at least 2. Using Theorem 8.1 we are able to show that for a suitable choice of G the hypothesis of the stability theorem (Theorem 8) is satisfied, unless possibly M is fixed-point homogeneous with respect to a Spin(9)-subaction. Thus we can either apply Theorem 5.1 or Grove and Searle's [11] classification of fixed-point homogeneous manifolds.

In Section 14 we prove Theorem 4 as well as Corollary 3. The proof also shows that for any n-manifold M satisfying the hypothesis of Corollary 3 there is a sequence of positively curved manifolds

$$M^n \subset M_1^{n+h} \subset M_2^{n+2h} \subset \cdots$$

all of which have cohomogeneity k. Furthermore all inclusions are totally geodesic embeddings and $h \leq 4k + 4$. This might be useful for further applications, for example if one wants to recover more than just the tangential homotopy type.

I would like to thank Wolfgang Ziller and Karsten Grove for many useful discussions and comments. I am also indebted to the referee for several suggestions for improvements.

1. Preliminaries

According to Grove and Searle [11] a Riemannian manifold is called fixedpoint homogeneous if there is an isometric nontrivial nontransitive action of a Lie group G such that $\dim(M/G) - \operatorname{Fix}(G) = 1$ or equivalently there is a component N of the fixed-point set $\operatorname{Fix}(G)$ such that G acts transitively on a normal sphere of N. THEOREM 1.1 (Grove-Searle). Let M be a compact simply connected manifold of positive sectional curvature. If M is fixed-point homogeneous, then M is equivariantly diffeomorphic to a rank one symmetric space endowed with a linear action.

The following theorem (connectedness lemma) was proved by the author in [22].

THEOREM 1.2 (Connectedness Lemma). Let M^n be a compact positively curved Riemannian manifold.

- a) Suppose $N^{n-k} \subset M^n$ is a compact totally geodesic embedded submanifold of codimension k. Then the inclusion map $N^{n-k} \to M^n$ is (n-2k+1)connected. If there is a Lie group G acting isometrically on M^n and fixing N^{n-k} pointwise, then the inclusion map is $(n-2k+1+\delta(G))$ -connected, where $\delta(G)$ is the dimension of the principal orbit.
- b) Suppose $N_1^{n-k_1}, N_2^{n-k_2} \subset M^n$ are two compact totally geodesic embedded submanifolds, $k_1 \leq k_2, k_1+k_2 \leq n$. Then the intersection $N_1^{n-k_1} \cap N_2^{n-k_2}$ is a totally geodesic embedded submanifold as well, and the inclusion map

$$N_1^{n-k_1} \cap N_2^{n-k_2} \longrightarrow N_2^{n-k_2}$$

is $(n - k_1 - k_2)$ -connected.

Recall that a map $f: N \to M$ between two manifolds is called *h*-connected, if the induced map $\pi_i(f): \pi_i(N) \to \pi_i(M)$ is an isomorphism for i < h and an epimorphism for i = h. If f is an embedding, this is equivalent to saying that up to homotopy M can be obtained from f(N) by attaching cells of dimension $\geq h + 1$.

Since fixed-point components of isometries are totally geodesic, Theorem 1.2 turns out to be a very powerful tool in analyzing positively curved manifolds with symmetry. In fact by combining the theorem with the following lemma (see [22]), one sees that a totally geodesic submanifold of low codimension in a positively curved manifold has immediate consequences for the cohomology ring.

LEMMA 1.3. Let M^n be a closed differentiable oriented manifold, and let N^{n-k} be an embedded compact oriented submanifold without boundary. Suppose the inclusion $\iota: N^{n-k} \to M^n$ is (n-k-l)-connected and n-k-2l > 0. Let $[N] \in H_{n-k}(M,\mathbb{Z})$ be the image of the fundamental class of N in $H_*(M,\mathbb{Z})$, and let $e \in H^k(M,\mathbb{Z})$ be its Poincaré dual. Then the homomorphism

$$\cup e \colon H^i(M,\mathbb{Z}) \to H^{i+k}(M,\mathbb{Z})$$

is surjective for $l \leq i < n - k - l$ and injective for $l < i \leq n - k - l$.

As mentioned before a crucial point in the proofs of the main results is gaining control on the principal isotropy group H of an isometric group action on a positively curved manifold. By making iterated use of an lemma of Berger [1961] on the vanishing of a Killing field on an even dimensional positively curved manifold one obtains

PROPOSITION 1.4 (Rank Lemma). Let G be a compact Lie group acting isometrically on a positively curved manifold with principal isotropy group H. There is a sequence of isotropy groups $K_0 \supset \cdots \supset K_h = H$ such that $\operatorname{rank}(K_{i-1})$ $-\operatorname{rank}(K_i) = 1$. The orbit type of K_i is at least i-dimensional in M/G. Furthermore $\operatorname{rank}(K_0) = \operatorname{rank}(G)$ if $\dim(M)$ is even and $\operatorname{rank}(G) - \operatorname{rank}(K_0) \leq 1$ if $\dim(M)$ is odd.

In particular, $\operatorname{rank}(\mathsf{G}) - \operatorname{rank}(\mathsf{H}) \leq k + 1$ if k denotes the cohomogeneity of the action. The latter inequality has been previously observed by Püttmann [16].

2. Proof of the stability theorem

2.1. Smoothness of metrics. One of the technical difficulties in the proof of the stability theorem (Theorem 8) is to show that the constructed metrics are smooth. In this subsection we establish a few preliminary results in that direction. We start by observing that the problem can be reduced to polynomials.

PROPOSITION 2.1. Let V be a finite dimensional Euclidean vectorspace, $\rho: \mathsf{G} \to \mathsf{O}(V)$ an orthogonal representation, G' a subgroup of G , and let $V' \subset V$ be a $\rho(\mathsf{G}')$ -invariant vector subspace. Suppose that for any continuous G' -invariant Riemannian metric g' on V' there is a unique continuous G -invariant Riemannian metric g on V for which $(V', g') \to (V, g)$ is an isometric embedding. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- a) For all integers $k \ge 0$ the following holds. Consider the induced representations of G' and G in $S^2V' \otimes S^kV'$ and $S^2V \otimes S^kV$, respectively. Let $U'_k \subset S^2V' \otimes S^kV'$ and $U_k \subset S^2V \otimes S^kV$ be the vector subspaces that are fixed-pointwise by G' and G , respectively. Then the orthogonal projection $\mathrm{pr}: S^2V \otimes S^kV \to S^2V' \otimes S^kV'$ satisfies $\mathrm{pr}(U_k) = U'_k$.
- b) For any G'-invariant C[∞] Riemannian metric g' on V' there is a G-invariant C[∞] Riemannian metric g on V such that the natural inclusion (V', g') → (V, g) is an isometric embedding.

Proof. We first explain why b) implies a). We identify V' with \mathbb{R}^n . Notice that $p' \in S^2 V' \otimes S^k V'$ may be viewed as a matrix valued function $\mathbb{R}^n \to$

Sym (n, \mathbb{R}) such that the coefficients are homogeneous polynomials of degree k. Furthermore $p' \in U'_k$, if and only if the symmetric two form given by p' is G'-invariant.

Notice that for all $p' \in U'_k$ the corresponding two form occurs in the Taylor expansions of a suitable G'-invariant metric g' of V' at 0. By assumption g' is the restriction of a G-invariant metric g on V. Of course this implies that the polynomials in the Taylor expansion of g' are restrictions of the polynomials in the Taylor expansion of g. Hence a) holds.

Next we show that a) implies b). Suppose g' is a G'-invariant metric on $V' \cong \mathbb{R}^n$. If we think of g' as a matrix-valued function, we can approximate its coefficients by polynomials.

It follows that there is a sequence $p'_i \in \bigoplus_{k=1}^{\infty} S^2 V' \otimes S^k V'$ such that the symmetric two form given by p'_i converges on compact sets in the C^{∞} -topology to g'. Since the metric g' is G'-invariant, we can choose p'_i to be G'-invariant as well.

By assumption p'_i is the restriction of a G-invariant element $p_i \in \bigoplus_{k=1}^{\infty} S^2 V \otimes S^k V$. It suffices to prove that a subsequence of the two-forms given by p_i converges in the C^{∞} -topology.

We fix an integer l > 0. For all k we put $W'_k := \bigoplus_{i=1}^k U'_i$, and consider the map f_x assigning an element $p \in W'_\infty$ to the element $f_x(p) \in \bigoplus_{i=1}^l S^2 V \otimes S^i V$ that is characterized by the fact that the two form given by $p - f_x(p)$ vanishes with degree l in x. For all positive integers h and k the set

$$L_{hk} := \left\{ x \in V \mid \dim(f_x(W_k)) \le h \right\}$$

is a variety. Furthermore $L_{hk} \supset L_{hk+1} \supset \cdots$. Therefore there exists a number n(l) such that $L_{hk} = L_{hk'}$ for all $k, k' \ge n(l)$ and $h = 0, \ldots, \dim(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} S^2 V \otimes S^i V)$.

This proves that given any element $q' \in W'_{\infty}$ and any point $x \in V'$ we can find $p' \in W'_{n(l)}$ such that q' - p' vanishes in x up to degree l. Furthermore, for a given number r > 0 there is a compact subset $K' \subset W'_{n(l)}$ such that for all i > 0 and $x \in B_r(0) \subset V'$ there is a $p'_{ix} \in K'$ for which $p'_i - p'_{ix}$ vanishes with degree l in x.

Since there are unique elements $p_i \in W_{\infty}$ and $p_{ix} \in W_{n(l)}$ whose restrictions are given by p'_i and p'_{ix} , it follows that $p_i - p_{ix}$ vanishes up to degree l in x.

Consider the isomorphism $r: W_{n(l)} \to W'_{n(l)}$ obtained by restriction, and put $K := r^{-1}(K')$. There are a priori C^l -bounds on the ball $B_r(0) \subset V$ for all elements in the compact set K. Because of the above observations these bounds give a priori C^l -bounds for the sequence p_i on the ball $B_r(0)$. Since l, rare arbitrary, it follows that a subsequence of p_i converges in the C^{∞} -topology.

618

Definition 2.2. We say that a triple $(\rho: \mathbf{G} \to \mathbf{O}(V), \mathbf{G}', V')$ has property (G) if and only if the following hold: V is a finite dimensional Euclidean vectorspace, **G** is a Lie group, ρ is an orthogonal representation in V, **G**' is a subgroup of **G**, V' is a $\rho(\mathbf{G}')$ -invariant subspace of V and for all $a \in \mathbf{G}$ there is a $c \in \mathbf{G}'$ such that $\operatorname{pr} \circ \rho(ca)_{|V'}: V' \to V'$ is a self-adjoint positive semidefinite endomorphism, where $\operatorname{pr}: V \to V'$ denotes the orthogonal projection.

LEMMA 2.3. Let $G_n \in \{O(n), U(n), Sp(n)\}$, and choose $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{H}\}$ correspondingly. Consider the standard representation $\rho: G_n \to O(\mathbb{K}^n)$. Let $\mathbb{K}^{n-k} \subset \mathbb{K}^n$ be the fixed-point set of the lower $k \times k$ block, and let $G_{n-k} \subset G_n$ be the upper n-k block. Then the triple $(\rho: G_n \to O(\mathbb{K}^n), G_{n-k}, \mathbb{K}^{n-k})$ has property (G).

The proof follows immediately from the Cartan decomposition. At first view property (G) does seem to be extremely restrictive, and the above lemma might not convince the reader that there are many examples. However, it turns out that property (G) is stable under various natural operations:

PROPOSITION 2.4. Suppose $(\rho: \mathbf{G} \to \mathbf{O}(V), \mathbf{G}', V')$ has property (G) and k > 0.

- a) The triple $(\otimes^k \rho \colon \mathsf{G} \to \mathsf{O}(\otimes^k V), \mathsf{G}', \otimes^k V')$ has property (G) as well.
- b) Let $h: \mathsf{G} \to \mathsf{O}(Z)$ denote the trivial representation in some Euclidean vectorspace Z. Then $\left(h \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} \rho: \mathsf{G} \to \mathsf{O}(Z \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} V), \mathsf{G}', Z \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} V'\right)$ has property (G) as well.
- c) Let $W \subset V$ be a G-invariant subspace of V, and suppose $W' := \operatorname{pr}(W) = V' \cap W$, where $\operatorname{pr}: V \to V'$ denotes the orthogonal projection. Then the triple $(\rho: \mathsf{G} \to \mathsf{O}(W), \mathsf{G}', W')$ has property (G) as well.

Proof. a) Let $a \in G$. Because of property (G) we can choose $c \in G'$ and an orthonormal basis b_1, \ldots, b_l of V' such that

$$\rho(ca)b_i = \lambda_i b_i + w_i$$
 with $\lambda_i \ge 0$ and $w_i \perp V'$.

It is straightforward to check that

$$\otimes^{k} \rho(ca)(b_{i_{1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes b_{i_{k}}) = \lambda_{i_{1}} \cdots \lambda_{i_{k}} b_{i_{1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes b_{i_{k}} + w$$

with $w \perp \otimes^k V' \subset \otimes^k V$. Hence a) holds.

b) follows similarly.

c) Let $a \in \mathsf{G}$, and choose $c \in \mathsf{G}'$ such that $\operatorname{pr} \circ \rho(ca)_{|V'}$ is a selfadjoint positive semidefinite endomorphism of V'. Since W' is an invariant subspace of this endomorphism, it follows that $\operatorname{pr} \circ \rho(ca)_{|W'} \colon W' \to W'$ is a self-adjoint positive semidefinite endomorphism of W'.

PROPOSITION 2.5. Suppose $(\rho: \mathbf{G} \to \mathbf{O}(V), \mathbf{G}', V')$ has property (G). Then statement a) of Proposition 2.1 holds for this triple.

Proof. We view $W = S^2 V \otimes S^k V$ as a G-invariant subspace in $\otimes^k V$. The orthogonal projection pr: $\otimes^k V \to \otimes^k V'$ maps W to $S^2 V' \otimes S^k V'$. Therefore we can employ a) and c) of Proposition 2.4 to see that the triple

$$(\rho: \mathsf{G} \to \mathsf{O}(S^2 V \otimes S^k V), \mathsf{G}', S^2 V' \otimes S^k V')$$

has property (G) as well.

Clearly, $\operatorname{pr}(U_k) \subset U'_k$, where U_k, U'_k and pr are as defined in Proposition 2.1. Suppose we can find a vector $u \in U'_k \setminus \{0\}$ that is perpendicular to $\operatorname{pr}(U_k)$. This is equivalent to saying that u is perpendicular to U_k . Since cu = u for all $c \in G'$, property (G) implies that $\langle gu, u \rangle \geq 0$ for all $g \in \mathsf{G}$. Hence the center of mass v of the orbit $\mathsf{G} \star u$ satisfies $\langle v, u \rangle > 0$. Because of $v \in U_k$ this is a contradiction.

COROLLARY 2.6. Suppose (G_{n+1}, G_n, u) is one of the triples

$$(O(n+1), O(n), 1), (U(n+1), U(n), 2) \text{ or } (Sp(n+1), Sp(n), 4).$$

Let $\rho: \mathsf{G}_n \to \mathsf{O}(p)$ be a representation which decomposes as the sum of a trivial representation and (n-k) pairwise equivalent $u \cdot n$ -dimensional standard representations with $k \geq 1$. Put $\bar{p} := p + u(n-k)$, and consider the corresponding representation $\bar{\rho}: \mathsf{G}_{n+1} \to \mathsf{O}(\bar{p})$. Then for any (not necessarily complete) G_n -invariant C^{∞} -Riemannian metric g on \mathbb{R}^p there is unique metric G_{n+1} -invariant Riemannian metric \bar{g} on $\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ for which $(\mathbb{R}^p, g) \to (\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}, \bar{g})$ is an isometric embedding, and \bar{g} is of class C^{∞} as well.

Proof. Let us first show that there is a unique continuous G_{n+1} -invariant metric \bar{g} on $\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ for which $(\mathbb{R}^p, g) \to (\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}, \bar{g})$ is an isometric embedding.

As any G_{n+1} -orbit in $\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ intersects \mathbb{R}^{p} , it suffices to show that there is a unique way of extending the given inner product on $T_{x}\mathbb{R}^{p}$ to $T_{x}\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^{p}$. Since the principal isotropy group of the representation ρ is conjugate to the lower by a $k \times k$ block, we also may assume that the lower $k \times k$ block B_{k} in G_{n} fixes x. Clearly this implies that the lower $(k + 1) \times (k + 1)$ block B_{k+1} of G_{n+1} fixes x as well.

The isotropy representation of B_k in $T_x \mathbb{R}^p$ consists of (n-k) standard representations and a (p-u(n-k)k)-dimensional trivial representation. The isotropy representation of G_{k+1} in $T_x \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ consists of (n-k) standard representations and a (p-u(n-k)k)-dimensional trivial representation. Thus we see that the moduli space of inner products of $\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ which are invariant under B_{k+1} is canonically isomorphic to the moduli space of inner products of \mathbb{R}^p which are invariant under B_k . Clearly the result follows. By Lemma 2.3 and Proposition 2.4 b) the triple $(\bar{\rho}: \mathsf{G}_{n+1} \to \mathsf{O}(\bar{p}), \mathsf{G}_n, \mathbb{R}^p)$ has property (G). Thus we can employ Proposition 2.5 and Proposition 2.1 to see that the metric \bar{g} is smooth.

2.2. Extensions of Lie subgroups.

LEMMA 2.7. Let $(G_d, u) \in \{(SO(d), 1), (SU(d), 2), (Sp(d), 4)\}$, and let $K \subset G$ be a connected subgroup. Suppose that for some positive k there is a subgroup $B_k \subset K$ such that B_k is conjugated to the lower $k \times k$ block. Choose k maximal, and assume $k \geq 3$ if u < 4. Then B_k is a normal subgroup of K.

Proof. We may assume B_k is the lower $k \times k$ block. Suppose, on the contrary, that we can find a subspace V of the Lie algebra of K which corresponds to a nontrivial irreducible subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of K/B_k . It is straightforward to show that up to conjugacy with an element in the upper d - k block V is contained in the lower $(k + 1) \times (k + 1)$ block. But then K contains the lower $(k + 1) \times (k + 1)$ block — a contradiction.

2.3. Chains of homogeneous vectorbundles. For a subgroup $H \subset G$, we let N(H) denote the normalizer of H in G. In this subsection we prove the following local version of the stability theorem.

PROPOSITION 2.8. Let (G_{n+1}, G_n, u) be one of the triples

 $(\mathsf{SO}(n+1),\mathsf{SO}(n),1), (\mathsf{SU}(n+1),\mathsf{SU}(n),2) \text{ or } (\mathsf{Sp}(n+1),\mathsf{Sp}(n),4),$

K a closed subgroup of G_n , and let $\rho: K \to O(p)$ be a representation with principal isotropy group $H \subset K$. Suppose that H contains the lower $k \times k$ block B_k of G_n with $k \ge 1$ if u = 4, and $k \ge 3$ if u = 1, 2. Assume that B_k is normal in $N(H) \cap K$.

- a) Then there is a unique normal subgroup $B_l \subset K$ with $B_k \subset B_l$ which is conjugate to the lower $l \times l$ block.
- b) There is a natural choice for a subgroup K̄ ⊂ G_{n+1} and for a representation p̄: K̄ → O(p̄) with p̄ − p = u(l − k) such that
 - (i) There is a natural inclusion $\iota: \mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p \to \mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ between the two corresponding homogeneous vector bundles.
 - (ii) For any (not necessarily complete) G_n -invariant Riemannian metric (of class C^{∞}) on the vectorbundle $G_n \times_{\rho_{|K}} \mathbb{R}^p$ there is a unique extension to a G_{n+1} -invariant Riemannian metric (of class C^{∞}) on the vectorbundle $G_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{K}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$.

Proof. a) Choose l maximal such that there is a subgroup $\mathsf{B}_l \subset \mathsf{K}$ which is conjugate to a lower $l \times l$ block containing B_k . Then B_l is normal in the

identity component of K by Lemma 2.7. Since B_k is normal in the normalizer of H it is easy to deduce that B_l is a normal subgroup of K.

b) We may assume that B_l is given by the lower $l \times l$ block. There is a subgroup L of K such that $\mathsf{K} = \mathsf{L} \cdot \mathsf{B}_l$ and $\mathsf{L} \cap \mathsf{B}_l = 1$. We consider G_n as the upper $n \times n$ block of G_{n+1} . Let B_{l+1} be the lower $(l+1) \times (l+1)$ block in G_{n+1} , and put $\bar{\mathsf{K}} := \mathsf{L} \cdot \mathsf{B}_{l+1}$.

Next we want to 'extend' the representation $\rho \colon \mathsf{K} \to \mathsf{O}(p)$ to a representation $\bar{\rho} \colon \bar{\mathsf{K}} \to \mathsf{O}(\bar{p})$ with $\bar{p} - p = u(l - k)$.

The fact that $\mathsf{B}_k \subset \mathsf{B}_l$ is contained in a principal isotropy group of the representation ρ implies that $\rho_{|\mathsf{B}_l}$ is the sum of a trivial representation and (l-k) equivalent $u \cdot l$ -dimensional standard representations. This in turn shows that ρ decomposes as follows:

$$\rho = \rho_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{K}} \rho_2 \oplus \rho',$$

where $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{H}\}$ is determined by $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{K} = u$, ρ_1 is an l - k-dimensional representation of K over the field \mathbb{K} with $\mathsf{B}_l \subset \operatorname{kernel}(\rho_1)$, ρ_2 is an irreducible $u \cdot l$ -dimensional representation of K over the field \mathbb{K} with $\rho_{2|\mathsf{B}_l}$ being the standard representation, and ρ' is another representation of K with $\mathsf{B}_l \subset \operatorname{kernel}(\rho')$.

Because of $\bar{\mathsf{K}}/\mathsf{B}_{l+1} \cong \mathsf{K}/\mathsf{B}_l$ we can extend ρ_1 and ρ' to representations of $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$. Furthermore it is obvious that we can 'extend' ρ_2 to a u(l+1)-dimensional representation $\bar{\rho}_2 \colon \bar{\mathsf{K}} \to \mathsf{O}(u(l+1))$. Hence we may define $\bar{\rho} := \bar{\rho}_1 \otimes \bar{\rho}_2 \oplus \bar{\rho}'$.

Clearly, there is a natural inclusion

$$\iota \colon \mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p \to \mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$$

between the two corresponding homogeneous vectorbundles.

Next we want to check that for any continuous G_n -invariant Riemannian metric on $G_n \times_{\rho_{|K}} \mathbb{R}^p$ there is a unique continuous G_{n+1} -Riemannian metric on $G_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{K}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ that extends the given metric.

Since any G_{n+1} -orbit in $\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ intersects $\mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p$, it suffices to check that at a point x in $\mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p$ there is a unique way of extending the given inner product of $T_x \mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p$ to an inner product of $T_x \mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$. Similarly we also may assume that the lower $(k+1) \times (k+1)$ block $\mathsf{B}_{k+1} \subset$ G_{n+1} is contained in the isotropy group of x. The isotropy representation of B_{k+1} in $T_x \mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ decomposes into (n-k) pairwise equivalent u(k+1)dimensional standard representations and an (l-u(k+1))-dimensional trivial representation, where $l = \dim(\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}})$.

Put $\mathsf{B}_k := \mathsf{B}_{k+1} \cap \mathsf{G}_n$. Then the isotropy representation of B_k in $T_x \mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p$ decomposes into (n-k) pairwise equivalent u(k+1)-dimensional standard representations and an (l-u(k+1))-dimensional trivial representation. Conse-

quently, the moduli spaces of B_{k+1} -invariant inner products on $T_x\mathsf{G}_{n+1}\times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}}\mathbb{R}^{\bar{\rho}}$ and B_k -invariant inner products on $T_x\mathsf{G}_n\times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}}\mathbb{R}^p$ coincide.¹

Notice that we can actually repeat this construction, i.e., we can extend any continuous metric of $\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ to a continuous metric of the corresponding vectorbundle of G_{n+2} . Clearly all elements of G_{n+2} leaving $\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ invariant are isometries of $\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{\mathsf{K}}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$. Similarly all isometries leaving $\mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p$ invariant are isometries of this bundle.

For u = 1 this consideration shows that there are orbit equivalent isometric actions of O(n) and O(n + 1) on the bundles $G_n \times_{\rho_{|K}} \mathbb{R}^p$ and $G_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\bar{K}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$, respectively. For u = 2 there are orbit equivalent isometric actions of U(n) and U(n + 1) on these bundles.

For u = 1, 2 we change notation. Subsequently, if u = 1, 2, then $(\mathsf{G}_n, \mathsf{G}_{n+1}, u)$ is one of the triples $(\mathsf{O}(n+1), \mathsf{O}(n), 1)$ or $(\mathsf{U}(n+1), \mathsf{U}(n), 2)$. The above argument shows that there is a canonical way to write the homogeneous vectorbundles as homogeneous vectorbundles of these larger groups. We change the groups K and $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ consistently and continue to write ρ and $\bar{\rho}$ for the extended representations. For u = 4 we leave everything as it was.

It remains to prove: for any smooth Riemannian metric g on $\mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p$ the unique extension of g to a continuous Riemannian metric on $\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ is smooth as well. Consider the principal K bundle $\pi : \mathsf{G}_n \times \mathbb{R}^p \to \mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p$, and choose a $\mathsf{G}_n \times \mathsf{K}$ -invariant C^{∞} Riemannian metric \hat{g} on $\mathsf{G}_n \times \mathbb{R}^p$ that turns the projection into a Riemannian submersion. Similarly, we can show that there is a unique extension of \hat{g} to a continuous $\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times \bar{\mathsf{K}}$ -invariant Riemannian metric \hat{g}_{n+1} on $\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$. Clearly it suffices to prove that \hat{g}_{n+1} is smooth. Without loss of generality we may assume that $\mathsf{K} = \mathsf{B}_l$ is given by the lower $l \times l$ block. Then $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ is given by the lower $(l+1) \times (l+1)$ block in G_{n+1} .

Let \bar{g}_{n+1} denote the continuous Riemannian metric on $\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ that turns the projection pr: $(\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}, \hat{g}_{n+1}) \to (\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}, \bar{g}_{n+1})$ into a Riemannian submersion. By Corollary 2.6 \bar{g}_{n+1} is smooth. It remains to check that the horizontal distribution is smooth and that the metric on the vertical distribution is smooth, which can be done similarly. We indicate the proof for the horizontal distribution.

The horizontal distribution of $\mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$ is given by a $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ -equivariant map

$$\omega_{n+1} \colon T\mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}} = \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}} \times \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}} \to \mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$$

which is linear in the second component and where the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_{n+1} of G_{n+1} is endowed with the adjoint representation of $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$. Equivalently we can

¹It is here where we need the assumption $k \geq 3$ for u = 1, 2 because otherwise the type of the representation could change from complex to real or from symplectic to complex which in turn would mean that the moduli space of $T_x \mathsf{G}_n \times_{\rho_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^p$ is larger than the one of $T_x \mathsf{G}_{n+1} \times_{\bar{\rho}_{|\mathsf{K}}} \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}}$.

view ω_{n+1} as a map

$$\omega_{n+1} \colon \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}} \to \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}} \otimes \mathfrak{g}_{n+1}.$$

We have to show that this map is of class \mathbb{C}^{∞} , provided that the K-equivariant corresponding map

$$\omega_n \colon \mathbb{R}^p \to \mathbb{R}^p \otimes \mathfrak{g}_n$$

is of class \mathbb{C}^{∞} . Similarly to Proposition 2.1 it suffices to prove that the orthogonal projection

$$S^q \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}} \otimes \mathfrak{g}_{n+1} \longrightarrow S^q \mathbb{R}^p \otimes \mathbb{R}^p \otimes \mathfrak{g}_n$$

maps the subspace of the domain fixed by \bar{K} surjectively onto the subspace of the target fixed by K, where in order to define the orthogonal projection we may choose a fixed biinvariant metric on G_{n+1} .

By Proposition 2.5 for this in turn, it suffices to verify that the triple consisting of the natural representation of $\bar{\mathsf{K}} \cong \mathsf{O}(l+1)$ in $S^q \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\bar{p}} \otimes \mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$, the subgroup $\mathsf{K} \cong \mathsf{O}(l)$ and the subspace $S^q \mathbb{R}^p \otimes \mathbb{R}^p \otimes \mathfrak{g}_n$ has property (G). But this can be deduced by making iterated use of Proposition 2.4.

2.4. Proof of Theorem 8. We first want to explain why the local version of the stability theorem indeed follows from Proposition 2.8. Let $\mathsf{K} \subset \mathsf{G}_d$ be the isotropy group of $p \in M$ containing H as the principal isotropy group of its slice representation. By Lemma 11.8 below, B_k is normal in $N(\mathsf{H}) \cap \mathsf{K}$. This is the only time when we use that the underlying manifold is simply connected. Instead of $\pi_1(M) = 1$ one can require that B_k be normal in $N(\mathsf{H})$ — this will be used later on. Although Lemma 11.8 is proved very late in the paper, we remark that Section 11 can be read independently so that it cannot create logical problems. In either case the slice theorem allows one to apply Proposition 2.8 to a tubular neighborhood of the orbit $\mathsf{G} \star p$.

a) We identify G_d with the upper $d \times d$ block in G_{d+1} . Since M is a disjoint union of orbits, and each orbit $G_d \star p$ can be identified with the homogeneous space G_d/H_p , we may think of M as disjoint union of the homogeneous spaces G_d/H_p , where p runs through a set representing each orbit precisely once.

We can now define the underlying set of the manifold M_1 we want to construct as follows: For each orbit we can choose a point $p \in M$ in that orbit whose isotropy group $\mathsf{H}_p \subset \mathsf{G}_d$ contains the lower $(d - r_p) \times (d - r_p)$ block as a normal subgroup, where $r_p \leq r$ is an integer depending on p.

After choosing p the orbit is naturally diffeomorphic to G_d/H_p . We define $\hat{H}_p \subset G_{d+1}$ as the group generated by $H_p \subset G_d \subset G_{d+1}$ and the lower $(d - r_p + 1) \times (d - r_p + 1)$ block in G_{d+1} .

We now define the underlying set of M_1 as the disjoint union of the homogeneous spaces G_{d+1}/\hat{H}_p , where p runs through a set representing each G_d -orbit in M precisely once.

624

Notice that the set M_1 comes with a natural G_{d+1} -action and that the natural inclusion $\mathsf{G}_d/\mathsf{H}_p \to \mathsf{G}_{d+1}/\hat{\mathsf{H}}_p$ induces a natural inclusion $M \to M_1$. Furthermore, the orbit spaces M_1/G_{d+1} and $A := M/\mathsf{G}_d$ are naturally isomorphic. Let $\mathrm{pr}_d \colon M \to A$ and $\mathrm{pr}_{d+1} \colon M_1 \to A$ denote the projection onto the orbit space. For each orbit $\mathsf{G}_d \star p$ in M there is, by the slice theorem, a small neighborhood U which is equivariantly diffeomorphic to a homogeneous vectorbundle. From Proposition 2.8 it follows that the set $U_1 = \mathrm{pr}_{d+1}^{-1}(\mathrm{pr}_d(U))$ may be identified with a homogeneous vectorbundle and that there is a unique G_{d+1} -invariant Riemannian metric of class C^{∞} on U_1 that extends the given metric on U. This shows that M_1 admits a unique structure of a Riemannian manifold with a G_{d+1} -invariant metric that extends the given metric on M.

Clearly this finishes the proof of a). For b) it only remains to check that $\operatorname{cohom}(M,g) = \operatorname{cohom}(M_1,g)$. Since M is a fixed-point component of an isometry of M_1 , we clearly have $\operatorname{cohom}(M,g) \leq \operatorname{cohom}(M_1,g)$. If there is a group action of a Lie group L on M that commutes with the given G_d -action, then it is easy to see that one gets an isometric $\mathsf{L} \times \mathsf{G}_{d+1}$ -action on M. This finishes the argument if $\mathsf{G}_d \subset \operatorname{Iso}(M,g)_0$ is normal. Finally one can show that the smallest normal subgroup N of $\operatorname{Iso}(M,g)_0$ containing $\mathsf{G}_d \subset \operatorname{Iso}(M,g)_0$ also satisfies the hypothesis of the stability theorem, and M_1 is one of the manifolds that occurs in the chain that one can construct with respect to the N-action.

c) Suppose that $v, w \in T_q M_1$ span a plane of minimal (maximal) sectional curvature in M_1 . Because of $k \ge d/2$ it is straightforward to find an element $a \in \mathsf{G}_{d+1}$ with $a_*v \in TM$. In other words we may assume $v \in T_qM$. Since M is totally geodesic, the tangent space T_qM is an invariant subspace of the curvature operator $R(\cdot, v)v$. Hence we may choose either $w \in T_qM$ or $w \in$ $\nu_q(M)$. In the former case we are done. In the latter it is straightforward to check that w is fixed by a $k \times k$ block H'. By switching the roles of w and v we can show similarly that we may assume that up to conjugacy there is a $k \times k$ block which keeps v fixed. But now it is straightforward to check that there is an element $g \in \mathsf{G}_{d+1}$ with $L_{g*}(v) = v$ and $L_{g*}(w) \in T_qM$. But this proves that the minimal (maximal) sectional curvature is attained in M.

3. Isotropy lemmas

LEMMA 3.1. Let G be a Lie group acting on a positively curved manifold M. Suppose that K is an isotropy group, whose orbit type has dimension k in M/G. Choose an irreducible subrepresentation U of the isotropy representation of G/K, and define $u \in \{1, 2, 4\}$ depending on whether the representation is of real (u = 1) complex (u = 2) or symplectic (u = 4) type. Let l be the maximal number such that there are l linear independent subrepresentations of the slice representation of K which are equivalent to U. Suppose that k - ul > 0.

BURKHARD WILKING

Then there is an isotropy group $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ in the closure of the orbit type of K , such that U is equivalent to a subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of $\bar{\mathsf{K}}/\mathsf{K}$. Furthermore the orbit type of $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ has dimension at least $(k-1-u \cdot l)$.

If K is the principal isotropy group, then the slice representation is trivial, and the isotropy lemma (Lemma 5) follows immediately. There are also some other useful consequences:

LEMMA 3.2. Let G be a Lie group acting on a positively curved manifold with cohomogeneity k. Suppose that H is the principal isotropy group. Given up to k nontrivial irreducible subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H which are pairwise nonequivalent, one can find an isotropy group \bar{K} such that each of the k representations is equivalent to a subrepresentation of \bar{K}/H .

Definition 3.3. Let G be a Lie group and H a connected compact subgroup. We call the isotropy representation of G/H spherical if any nontrivial irreducible subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H is transitive on the sphere.

LEMMA 3.4. Suppose G acts not transitively on a positively curved manifold with principal isotropy group H. Then the isotropy representation of G/H_0 is spherical.

In fact, each irreducible subrepresentation of H_0 is equivalent to a subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of K_0/H_0 , where K is an isotropy group. Furthermore we may assume K corresponds to a codimension 1 orbit type. Thus K_0/H_0 is a sphere and its isotropy representation is spherical as can be easily deduced from the classification of transitive actions on spheres.

Proof of Lemma 3.1. Let $p \in M$ be a point with isotropy group K, and let M' be the fixed-point component of K with $p \in M'$. In the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G we consider the orthogonal complement \mathfrak{m} of the subalgebra \mathfrak{k} of K with respect to a biinvariant metric on G. Let V be the maximal K-invariant subspace of \mathfrak{m} for which the following holds. Any irreducible subrepresentation of V is equivalent to U. We endow V with the induced invariant metric.

For $u \in V$ let J_u denote the Killing field corresponding to u. Assume, on the contrary, that $J_{u|q} \neq 0$ for all $p \in M'$ and all $u \in V \setminus \{0\}$. Choose a $p \in M'$, and a unit vector $v \in V$ with

$$||J_{v|p}|| = \min\{||J_{w|q}|| \mid q \in M', w \in V, ||w|| = 1\}.$$

If we let $H \subset T_p M'$ denote the vectors perpendicular to $\mathsf{G} \star p$, then the map

$$T: H \otimes V \to T_p M, \ x \otimes u \mapsto \nabla_x J_u$$

is K-equivariant. We put $Y := J_v$. By the equivariance of T it is easy to see that for each $x \in H$ the orthogonal projection of $\nabla_x Y$ onto the normal space of $\mathsf{G} \star p$ is contained in a $u \cdot l$ -dimensional subspace. Because of $\dim(H) \ge k > u \cdot l$, we can find an $x \in H \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\nabla_x Y$ is tangential to the orbit.

Thus there is an element $u \in V$ with $\nabla_x Y = J_{u|p}$. The particular choice of (v, p) gives $u \perp v$ and $L_p(u) \perp L_p(v)$. Put $Z := J_u$, $c(t) := \exp(tx)$, and consider the vectorfield

$$A(t) = \frac{Y_{\circ c} - tZ_{\circ c}}{(1 + t^2 ||u||^2)^{1/2}} = \frac{J_{(v+tu)|c(t)}}{||v+tu||}.$$

From the choice of (v, p) it is clear that ||A(t)|| attains a minimum at t = 0. Clearly the same holds for the norm of the vectorfield $B(t) = Y_{\circ c} - tZ_{\circ c}$. On the other hand B'(0) = 0, and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d^2}{dt^2} &t=0 \|B(t)\|^2 = 2\langle B''(0), B(0) \rangle \\ &= 2\langle Y_{\circ c}''(0), Y_{\circ c}(0) \rangle - 4\langle Z_{\circ c}'(0), Y_{\circ c}(0) \rangle \\ &= -2\langle R(x, Y_{|p})Y_{|p}, x \rangle - 4\langle Z_{\circ c}(0), Y_{\circ c}'(0) \rangle \\ &< -4\|Z_{|p}\|^2 \le 0 \end{aligned}$$

— a contradiction. In the calculation above we used the fact that Y and Z are Jacobifields along c satisfying $\langle Y_{\circ c}, Z'_{\circ c} \rangle = \langle Y'_{\circ c}, Z_{\circ c} \rangle$.

Thus there is an isotropy group $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ such that $\bar{\mathsf{K}}/\mathsf{K}$ contains a subrepresentation which is equivalent to U. Let h be the dimension of the orbit type of $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ in the orbit space. The slice representation of $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ decomposes as an h-dimensional trivial representation and a nontrivial representation. If h < k - 1 - ul, then the nontrivial part of the slice representation induces an action on the sphere such that the orbit type of K has dimension k - 1 - h > ul. We could repeat the argument and find a group $\bar{\mathsf{K}}'$ between K and $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ such that $\bar{\mathsf{K}}'/\mathsf{K}$ contains a subrepresentation which is equivalent to U. In other words, if we choose $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ minimal, then $h \geq k - 1 - u \cdot l$.

4. Soul orbits

In this section we will establish the estimate on the number of faces of a positively curved orbit space (Theorem 7) which in turn relies on

THEOREM 4.1 (Soul Orbit Theorem). Let G be a Lie group acting isometrically on a Riemannian manifold with principal isotropy group H. Suppose that the orbit space M/G has positive curvature in the Alexandrov sense. Let $pr: M \to M/G$ denote the projection. Suppose there is an isotropy group Kcorresponding to a face F of the orbit space M/G. If there is more than one face with isotropy group K, F is allowed to be the union of these faces. Then

a) There is a unique point $G \star q \in M/G$ of maximal distance to F.

BURKHARD WILKING

- b) $M \setminus pr^{-1}(F)$ is equivariantly diffeomorphic to the normal bundle of the orbit $\mathsf{G} \star q$.
- c) The inclusion map $G \star q \to M$ is dim(K/H)-connected.

For later applications it is important to note that we only assumed positive curvature for the orbit space. We will often refer to the orbit $G \star q$ as a soul orbit.

Proof. It is straightforward to check that the distance function $d(F, \cdot)$ of the face *F* defines a strictly concave function on the Alexandrov space *M*/G. Thus there is a unique point of maximal distance $G \star q$. Next consider the Lipschitz function $r: M \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $r(p) = d(F, \operatorname{pr}(p)) = d(\operatorname{pr}^{-1}(F), p)$. Since $d(F, \cdot)$ is strictly concave in $M/G \setminus F$ it is easy to see that the distance function *r* has no critical points (in the sense of Grove-Shiohama) on M' := $M \setminus (\operatorname{pr}^{-1}(F) \cup G \star q)$. Thus we can construct a gradient-like vectorfield *X* on M' with respect to *r*. A simple averaging argument shows that we may choose a G-invariant vectorfield *X*. Consequently $M \setminus \operatorname{pr}^{-1}(F)$ is diffeomorphic to the normal bundle of $G \star q$. Notice that the set $\operatorname{pr}^{-1}(F)$ has codimension $\geq \dim(K/H) + 1$. Consequently the inclusion map $M \setminus \operatorname{pr}^{-1}(F) \to M$ is $\dim(K/H)$ -connected. □

Proof of Theorem 7. a) We argue by induction on k. Suppose there are at least k + 1 faces, F_0, \ldots, F_k in the orbit space M/G . Let $\bar{p}_i \in M/\mathsf{G}$ be the point of maximal distance to F_i . By Theorem 4.1, $M/\mathsf{G} \setminus F_i$ is isomorphic as a stratified space to the tangent cone $C_{\bar{p}_i}M/\mathsf{G}$. In particular, the tangent cone $C_{\bar{p}_i}M/\mathsf{G}$ has at least k-1 faces, and the same holds for the space of directions $\sum_{\bar{p}_0}M/\mathsf{G}$ at \bar{p}_0 . Since $\sum_{\bar{p}_0}M/\mathsf{G}$ is a positively curved (k-1)-dimensional orbit space, our induction hypothesis implies that $\sum_{\bar{p}_0}M/\mathsf{G}$ is, as a stratified space, isomorphic to a (k-1)-simplex. Thus $M/G \setminus F_i$ is, as a stratified space, isomorphic to the cone over a (k-1)-simplex, and it easily follows that M/G is isomorphic to a k-simplex.

b) Let F_0, \ldots, F_l denote the faces of M/G , l < k. Let \bar{p}_0 be again the soul point corresponding to F_0 . Then $M/\mathsf{G} \setminus F_0$ is isomorphic to the tangent cone $C_{\bar{p}_0}M/\mathsf{G}$. This implies that M/G is homeomorphic to the natural compactification of $C_{\bar{p}_0}M/\mathsf{G}$, i.e., to the subspace of all vectors of norm (distance to the origin) ≤ 1 . By the induction hypothesis the space of directions $\Sigma_{\bar{p}_0}M/\mathsf{G}$ is homeomorphic to the join of an (l-1) simplex and the space $F_1 \cap \cdots \cap F_l \cap \Sigma_{\bar{p}_0}M/\mathsf{G}$. The latter is homeomorphic to $F_0 \cap F_1 \cap \cdots \cap F_l$ and hence the result follows.

PROPOSITION 4.2. Let G be a connected Lie group acting isometrically on a simply connected positively curved manifold M with principal isotropy

628

group H. Let $F := \pi_1(G/H)$ be the fundamental group of the principal orbit and C(F) the center of F. Then F/C(F) is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_2^d for some $d \ge 0$.

Proof. We argue by induction on the dimension of M. Consider first a special case. Suppose that any irreducible subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H is one dimensional. Without loss of generality we can assume that G acts effectively and then $H \cong (\mathbb{Z}_2)^d$. Since the abelian fundamental group of G is mapped onto the center of the fundamental group of G/H, the result follows.

Suppose next that there is an irreducible subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H of dimension at least 2. By the isotropy lemma there is an isotropy group K corresponding to a face F of the orbit space such that $K/H \cong S^h$ with $h \ge 2$. Let $G \star p \in M/G$ be the orbit of maximal distance to F. By Theorem 4.1 the inclusion map $G \star p \to M$ is 2-connected. Let K denote the isotropy group of p. Since G/K is simply connected, it follows that the natural map $\pi_1(K/H) \to \pi_1(G/H)$ is surjective. Therefore the statement follows from the induction hypothesis applied to the slice representation of K.

5. Recovery of the tangential homotopy type of a chain

THEOREM 5.1. Let (G_d, u) be one of the pairs (SO(d), 1), (SU(d), 2) or (Sp(d), u). Suppose G_d acts isometrically and nontrivially on a positively curved compact manifold M. Suppose also that the principal isotropy group H of the action contains up to conjugacy a lower $k \times k$ block B_k with $k \ge 2$ if u = 4 and $k \ge 3$ if u = 1, 2. Choose k maximal.

If M is simply connected, then M is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space. If M is not simply connected, then $\pi_1(M)$ is isomorphic to the fundamental group of a space form of dimension u(d-k)-1.

For the remainder of the section the assumption of Theorem 5.1 is assumed to be valid. Since the isotropy representation of G/H is spherical, B_k is normal in the normalizer of H. Thus we can apply the stability theorem (Theorem 8) even if M is not simply connected; see the beginning of subsection 2.4. Consequently there is a Riemannian manifold M_i with an isometric action of G_{d+i} such that M_i/G_{d+i} is isometric to M/G_d . Furthermore there are natural totally geodesic inclusions $M = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots$. We do not know in this general situation whether M_i has positive sectional curvature for i > 0. We will establish the theorem in four steps.

Step 1. The union $\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} M_i$ has the homotopy type of a classifying space of a compact Lie group L. If M_0 is simply connected, then L is connected.

Step 2. The classifying space BL of the group L has periodic cohomology. If M_0 is simply connected, then $L \cong \{e\}, S^1, S^3$. Furthermore M_i is homotopic to a rank one symmetric space.

Step 3. If M_0 is simply connected, then M_i is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space.

Step 4. If M_0 is not simply connected, then $\pi_1(M_0)$ is isomorphic to the fundamental group of a space form of dimension u(d-k) - 1.

5.1. Proof of Step 1. We let H_{d+i} denote the principal isotropy group of the action of G_{d+i} on M_i . Notice that H_{d+i} contains the lower $(k+i) \times (k+i)$ block B_{k+i} of G_{d+i} . Consequently H_d has a $u \cdot k$ -dimensional irreducible subrepresentation. By Lemma 3.1 there is an isotropy group K corresponding to a face such that the isotropy representation of K/H_d contains this representation. Notice that up to conjugacy K contains the lower $(k+1) \times (k+1)$ and $\mathsf{K}/\mathsf{H} \cong \mathbb{S}^{uk+u-1}$. Let F be the union of all faces with isotropy group K in the orbit space.

By Theorem 4.1 there is a soul orbit $G_d \star y_0$ whose inclusion map is (uk + u - 1)-connected. Notice that the isotropy group of y_0 does not contain a lower $(k + 1) \times (k + 1)$ block, because otherwise $G_d \star y_0$ would be contained in F.

Thus we may assume that the isotropy group $\mathsf{G}_d^{y_0}$ of y_0 is given by $\mathsf{L} \cdot \mathsf{B}_k$, where L a subgroup with $\mathsf{L} \cap \mathsf{B}_k = 1$.

It is clear from the construction of the chain that the isotropy group of $y_0 \in M_0 \subset M_i$ with respect to the G_{d+i} -action on M_i is then given by $\mathsf{G}_{d+i}^{y_0} = \mathsf{L} \cdot \mathsf{B}_{k+i}$.

Recall that the orbit spaces M_i/G_{d+i} and M/G_d are canonically isometric. Furthermore the face F corresponds in M_i/G_{d+i} to an isotropy group K_{d+i} containing the lower $(k+1+i) \times (k+1+i)$ block of G_{d+i} and hence $\mathsf{K}_{d+i}/\mathsf{H}_{d+i} \cong \mathbb{S}^{u(k+1+i)-1}$. By Theorem 4.1 the inclusion map $\mathsf{G}_{d+i} \star y_0 \to M_i$ is (u(k+1+i)-1)-connected.

The natural inclusion

$$\mathsf{G}_{\infty} \star y_0 := \bigcup_{i=0}^{\infty} \mathsf{G}_{d+i} \star y_0 \to \bigcup_{i=0}^{\infty} M_i =: M_{\infty}$$

is a weak homotopy equivalence, and by Whitehead it is a homotopy equivalence. We may identify the orbit $G_{d+i} \star y_0$ with the homogeneous space $G_{d+i}/L \cdot B_{k+i}$. Since L is in the normalizer of B_{k+i} , we may think of $G_{d+i}/L \cdot B_{k+i}$ as the quotient of G_{d+i}/B_{k+i} by a free L-action. Given that G_{d+i}/B_{k+i} is (k+i)connected, we deduce that $G_{\infty} \star y_0$ is homotopically equivalent to the classifying space *BL*. If M_0 is simply connected, then L is connected as the inclusion map $G_d \star y_0 \to M_0$ is 3-connected. 5.2. Proof of Step 2. The construction of the chain $M_0 \,\subset M_1 \,\subset \cdots$ implies that M_{i-1} is given as the intersection of two totally geodesic copies of M_i in M_{i+1} . If M_{i+1} had positive sectional curvature we could employ the connectedness lemma to see that the inclusion map $M_{i-1} \to M_i$ is dim (M_{i-1}) connected. Recall that the proof of the connectedness lemma only needs the fact that one has positive curvature along any geodesic emanating perpendicularly to M_i in M_{i+1} ; see [22]. Given a unit vector v in the normal bundle of $M_i \subset M_{i+1}$ one can find an isometry $\iota \in \mathsf{G}_{d+i}$ such that $\iota_*(v) \in TM_{-1}$, where M_{-1} is the fixed-point set of the matrix diag $(1, \ldots, 1, -1, -1) \in \mathsf{G}_{d+1}$ in M_1 . In other words we just have to check that $R(\cdot, \dot{c})\dot{c}$ is a positive definite endomorphism of $T_{c(t)}M_{i+1}$ for any geodesic in c in M_{-1} . In order to check this, notice that $R(\cdot, \dot{c})\dot{c}$ is equivariant with respect the isotropy representation of the lower (i + 1) block of G_{d+i} in $T_{c(t)}M_{i+1}$. Since any irreducible subspace of this representation has nontrivial intersection with $T_{c(t)}M_0$, we see that $R(\cdot, \dot{c})\dot{c}$ is indeed positive definite.

Consequently the inclusion $M_{i-1} \to M_i$ is $\dim(M_{i-1})$ -connected. Therefore M_{i-1} has a periodic cohomology ring with period $h = \dim(M_i) - \dim(M_{i-1})$ = u(d-k); see Lemma 1.3. This shows that the classifying space $BL \cong \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} M_i$ has periodic cohomology. If M_0 is simply connected, then L is connected. Since $\{e\}, S^1$, and S^3 are the only connected Lie groups whose classifying spaces have periodic cohomology, it follows that $\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} M_i$ has the homotopy type of a point, of \mathbb{CP}^{∞} , or of \mathbb{HP}^{∞} . Next recall that the inclusion map $M_i \to \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} M_i$ is n_i -connected with $n_i = \dim(M_i)$. If $L = \{e\}$, this clearly implies that M is a homology sphere and hence a topological sphere by Smale's solution of the generalized Poincaré conjecture.

If $BL \cong \mathbb{CP}^{\infty}$, then the map $M_i \to \mathbb{CP}^{\infty}$ may be viewed as a map between M_i and the n_i -skeleton $\mathbb{CP}^{n_i/2}$ of \mathbb{CP}^{∞} . Since this map induces an isomorphism on cohomology, it is a homotopy equivalence by Whitehead. Similarly if $L \cong S^3$, then the map induces a homotopy equivalence between M_i and the n_i -skeleton $\mathbb{HP}^{n_i/4}$ of \mathbb{HP}^{∞} .

5.3. Proof of Step 3.

5.3.1. Recovery of the stable tangent bundle of \mathbb{HP}^n . We want to recover the stable tangent bundle in the case that M is homotopically equivalent to \mathbb{HP}^n .

We consider again the chain of manifolds

$$M = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots$$
.

First we want to show that the homotopy equivalence $M_i \to \mathbb{HP}^{n_i/4}$ from Step 2 pulls back the normal bundle of $\mathbb{HP}^{n_i/4}$ in $\mathbb{HP}^{n_{i+1}/4}$ to the normal bundle of M_i in M_{i+1} . Clearly this can be equivalently restated as follows. Let $S^3 \to \Sigma^{n_i+3} \to M_i$ be the unique S^3 -principal bundle whose Euler class

BURKHARD WILKING

is a generator of $H^4(M_i, \mathbb{Z})$. Then we claim that the normal bundle of M_i in M_{i+1} is isomorphic to the vectorbundle associated to the representation $S^3 \to O(n_{i+1} - n_i)$ given as the sum of pairwise equivalent irreducible four dimensional representations. For the proof we call the latter vector bundle V_i . Furthermore we let W_i denote the normal bundle of M_i in M_{i+1} . Clearly the restriction of V_i to M_{i-1} is isomorphic to V_{i-1} . Recall that M_{i-1} can be realized as the intersection of two copies of M_i in M_{i+1} . Thus the restriction of W_i to M_{i-1} is isomorphic to W_{i-1} .

Recall also that the isotropy group of the orbit $G_{d+i} \star y_0$ is given by $S^3 \cdot B_{k+i}$, and we can think of S^3 as being contained in the upper $(d-k) \times (d-k)$ block of G_{d+i} . The restriction of W_i to the orbit $G_{d+i} \star y_0$ is given by the homogeneous vectorbundle

$$\left(\mathsf{G}_{d+i}/\mathsf{B}_{d+i}\right) \times_{\rho|\mathsf{S}^3} \mathbb{R}^{u(d-k)},$$

where ρ is the representation of S^3 in $\mathbb{R}^{u(d-k)}$ induced by the embedding of S^3 in the upper $(d-k) \times (d-k)$ block of G_{d+i} .

Since the inclusion map $M_i \to M_{i+1}$ is n_i -connected, the Euler class of the normal bundle W_i is a generator of its homology group. In fact this follows from Lemma 1.3 as the Euler class is given by the pull back of $e \in H^*(M_{i+1}, \mathbb{Z})$ to $H^*(M_i, \mathbb{Z})$, where e is as defined in Lemma 1.3. By Lemma 5.2 from below, ρ splits into pairwise equivalent four dimensional irreducible representations.

Clearly we can find a number l such that the inclusion map $G_{n+l} \star y_0 \to M_l$ is $(n_i + 1)$ -connected. We have seen that the restrictions of the bundles V_l and W_l to the orbit $G_{n+l} \star y_0 \to M$ are isomorphic. Since the inclusion map $M_i \to M_l$ is (n_i+1) -connected as well, M_i is in M_l homotopic to the n_i -skeleton of $G_{n+l} \star y_0$. Thus the restrictions of V_l and W_l to M_i are isomorphic, too. On the other hand we have seen that these bundles are isomorphic to V_i and W_i , respectively.

Notice that it now suffices to prove that for some large i the map $M_i \to \mathbb{HP}^{n_i/4}$ is a tangential homotopy equivalence.

Next we will establish the result for $G_{d+i} = Sp(d+i)$. Recall that the representation ρ viewed as a real representation splits into pairwise equivalent four dimensional irreducible subrepresentations. This actually determines the embedding $S^3 \subset Sp(d-k)$ up to conjugacy. Namely we can assume that

$$S^3 = \{ \operatorname{diag}(g, \dots, g) \mid g \in S^3 \} \subset Sp(d-k) =: Sp(r).$$

Our next goal is to determine the isotropy representation of $S^3 \subset Sp(r)$ at y_0 . Since we have determined the embedding of $S^3 \subset Sp(r)$, this amounts to determining the slice representation of S^3 . For some positive integer q put

$$\varphi := 2\pi/q$$
 and $A := \operatorname{diag}(e^{i\varphi}, \dots, e^{i\varphi}, 1\dots, 1),$

where the entry $e^{i\varphi}$ occurs precisely $2r^2$ times. The matrix A is contained in a principal isotropy group for $i > 2r^2$, and one component F_{iA} of Fix(A)

632

is isometric to M_{i-2r^2} . Notice that this component is the unique component realizing the maximal dimension for $i > 4r^2$. We can estimate the dimension of the component N_{iy_0} of Fix(A) of A containing the point y_0 by

(1)
$$\dim(N_{iy_0}) \ge (r^2 - 1) + (2r^2 - r)2r = 4r^3 - r^2 - 1.$$

In fact the right-hand side of the inequality is the dimension of $N_{iy_0} \cap \mathsf{G} \star y_0$, provided that the integer q is larger than 2. Notice that N_{iy_0} is contained in M_{2r^2} . In particular, $N_{iy_0} \neq F_{iA}$.

We claim that there is no component other than N_{iy_0} and F_{iA} . Suppose, on the contrary, there would be a third component F'_i . For q > 2 this component would be invariant under the action of the group $SU(2r^2) \cdot Sp(d+i-2r^2)$. If this group fixed F'_i pointwise, then G_{d+i} would fix F'_i pointwise, too; indeed this follows from the fact that the principal isotropy group of G_{d+i} contains Sp(k+i) = Sp(d+i-r). But then clearly F'_i would intersect F_{iA} — a contradiction. Thus $SU(2r^2) \cdot Sp(d+i-2r^2)$ acts nontrivially on F'_i and hence $\dim(F'_i) \ge 4r^2 - 2$.

Notice that this estimate also holds if we choose for q an irrational number. If q is irrational, then the fixed-point set of A equals the fixed-point set of the circle generated by A. We can then use [5, Ch. VII, Th. 5.2] to see that all components of Fix(A) other than F_{iA} have the rational cohomology ring of complex projective spaces. Furthermore the Euler characteristics of the fixed-point set equal $\chi(M)$, and by the dimension estimate, $\chi(N_{iy_0}) \geq 2r^3 - \frac{1}{2}r^2$ and $\chi(F_{iA}) = \frac{1}{4}(n_i - 8r^3) + 1$. Finally a third component would have Euler characteristic at least $2r^2$. But this is clearly not possible. Thus Fix(A) has only two components if q is irrational. This in turn implies that Fix(A) has precisely two components namely F_{iA} and N_{iy_0} for any integer q > 1. Furthermore N_{iy_0} is independent of the integer q and dim $(N_{iy_0}) = 4r^3 - 2$ as long as q > 2. Since equation (1) determines the dimension of $N_{iy_0} \cap \operatorname{Sp}(d+i) \star y_0$, we deduce

(2)
$$\dim(TN_{iy_0} \cap \nu(\mathsf{Sp}(d+i) \star y_0)) = r^2 - 1$$

for all odd primes q and for q = 4. If $\bar{\rho} \colon S^3 \to O(\nu(\operatorname{Sp}(d+i) \star y_0))$ denotes the slice representation, we obtain that for any element a of odd prime order qin S^3 , the eigenspace of $\bar{\rho}(a)$ corresponding to the eigenvalue 1 has dimension $r^2 - 1$. The same holds for any element of order 4.

This shows that the slice representation has only weights 0, 1, and 2. Equivalently, the irreducible subspaces of the slice representation are of real dimension 1, 3 or 4.

Finally we consider A for q = 2. Since Fix(A) has two components, we can employ [5, Ch. VII, Th. 3.2] to see that their dimensions add up to $n_i - 4$. Thus dim $(N_{iy_0}) = 8r^3 - 4$ if q = 2. This implies for the element $-1 \in S^3$ that $\bar{\rho}(-1)$ has precisely $(2r^2 - r - 1)$ times the eigenvalue 1. Combining this with equation (2) we find that $\bar{\rho}_{|S^3}$ decomposes as follows:

$$\bar{\rho}_{|\mathbf{S}^3} = \left(\frac{r(r+1)}{2} - 1\right) \cdot [1] + \frac{1}{2}r(r-1) \cdot [3] + h \cdot [4],$$

where [1], [3], and [4] denote the trivial, the three dimensional, and the four dimensional representation of S^3 , respectively and where $4h = n_i - r^2 + 2 - 2r(d+i+1)$.

Because of $h \ge 0$ this actually gives the optimal lower bound on the dimension of M_i . In other words there is a linear action of $\mathsf{Sp}(d+i)$ on $\mathbb{HP}^{n_i/4}$ whose principal isotropy group contains $\mathsf{Sp}(d+i-r)$ as a normal subgroup. Of course our arguments apply to this linear action as well. Since we have determined the normal bundle as well as the isotropy group of the orbit, the pull back of the tangent bundle of M_i to $\mathsf{Sp}(d+i) \star y_0$ is determined.

As before we choose a number l such that the inclusion map $\operatorname{Sp}(d+l) \star y_0 \to M_l$ is $(n_i + 1)$ -connected. Since M_i is in M_l homotopic to the n_i -skeleton of $\operatorname{Sp}(d+l) \star y_0$, we see that the homotopy equivalence $h: M_i \to \mathbb{HP}^{n_i/4}$ pulls back the restriction of the tangentbundle of $\mathbb{HP}^{n_l/4}$ to the restriction of the tangentbundle of M_l to M_i . Since we have already established that the pull back of the normal bundle of $\mathbb{HP}^{n_i/4}$ in $\mathbb{HP}^{n_l/4}$ is the normal bundle of M_i in M_l , it follows that h is tangential.

One could argue similarly for the groups SU(d+i) and SO(d+i). However, one can actually reduce these cases to the previous one as follows.

Recall that the first part of the argument was carried out for all groups, and thereby it suffices to prove that for some large *i* the homotopy equivalence $M_i \to \mathbb{HP}^{n_i/4}$ is tangential. Clearly for some large *i* we can assume that d + iis divisible by 4 and that $\frac{7}{8}(d+i) < (d+i-k)$. Consider now the subaction of $\mathsf{Sp}((d+i) \cdot u/4) \subset \mathsf{G}_{d+i}$. This subaction satisfies again the hypothesis of the stability theorem. It is actually easy to see that manifolds in the new chain form just a subsequence of the old ones. Since the original chain had an orbit whose inclusion map is h_i -connected (with $h_i \to \infty$), it is easy to see that the new one also has an orbit of this type. In other words the previous proof goes through.

LEMMA 5.2. Let $\rho: S^3 \to O(4r)$ be a representation. Consider the homogeneous vectorbundle $ES^3 \times_{\rho|S^3} \mathbb{R}^{4r}$ over $BS^3 = \mathbb{HP}^{\infty}$. If the Euler class of that vectorbundle is a generator of $H^{4r}(\mathbb{HP}^{\infty},\mathbb{Z})$, then ρ is the direct sum of pairwise equivalent four dimensional irreducible subrepresentations.

Proof. Consider the natural map $\mathrm{pr}: \mathbb{CP}^{\infty} \to \mathbb{HP}^{\infty}$. Recall that pr induces an isomorphism on cohomology in dimensions divisible by four. Thus if we pull back the homogeneous vectorbundle $ES^3 \times_{\rho|S^3} \mathbb{R}^{4r}$ to \mathbb{CP}^{∞} , then the Euler class of the bundle is a generator of $H^{4r}(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty},\mathbb{Z})$. On the other hand the pull back bundle is the homogeneous vectorbundle $ES^1 \times_{\rho|S^1} \mathbb{R}^{4r}$ which is the sum of two dimensional subbundles corresponding to the two dimensional invariant subspaces of $\rho_{|\mathsf{S}^1}$. Since the Euler class of the bundle is the product of the Euler classes of the subbundles, it follows that the Euler class of each of the two dimensional subbundles is a generator of $H^2(\mathbb{CP}^\infty,\mathbb{Z})$. This in turn implies that the weights of the representation ρ are all equal to 1. Clearly the result follows.

5.3.2. Recovery of the stable tangent bundle of \mathbb{CP}^n . Analogously to the previous case one can show that the homotopy equivalence $M_i \to \mathbb{CP}^{n_i/2}$ pulls back the normal bundle of $\mathbb{CP}^{n_i/2}$ in $\mathbb{CP}^{n_{i+1}/2}$ to the normal bundle of M_i in M_{i+1} . As before the problem can then be reduced to the case $\mathsf{G}_{d+i} = \mathsf{Sp}(d+i)$.

Consider again the orbit $\operatorname{Sp}(d+i) \star y_0$ whose inclusion map is 4(d+i-k)connected. The isotropy group of y_0 is $L \cdot B_{k+i}$, where we can think of $L \cong S^1$ as
being contained in the upper (d-k) = r block. The embedding of $S^1 \subset \operatorname{Sp}(r)$ is again determined by the fact that the Euler class of the normal bundle of M_i in M_{i+1} generates its cohomology group. In this case it follows that up to
conjugacy

$$\mathsf{L} = \mathsf{S}^1 = \left\{ \operatorname{diag}(z, \dots, z) \mid z \in \mathsf{S}^1 \right\} \subset \mathsf{Sp}(r).$$

For a positive integer q put $\varphi := 2\pi/q$, and consider the matrix

$$A_{w,q} = \operatorname{diag}(e^{i\varphi}, \dots, e^{i\varphi}, 1, \dots, 1)$$

which has precisely w entries equal to $e^{i\varphi}$. In the present situation we need to establish that $\operatorname{Fix}(A_{w,q})$ has precisely three components for sufficiently large i and q > 2. At all times we assume we assume that i > 4w > 3r.

Since $A_{w,q}$ is a contained in a principal isotropy group, one component F_w of $Fix(A_{w,q})$ is isometric to M_{i-w} . Clearly F_w does not depend on the value of q and

$$\dim(F_w) = n_i - 4wr.$$

For q = 2 it is known that there are only two components and their dimensions add up to $\dim(M) - 2$, see [5, Ch VII, Th. 3.2]. Consequently

(3)
$$\dim(N_{y_0,2}) = 4wr - 2$$

For q > 2 the component $N_{y_0,q}$ of $Fix(A_{w,q})$ containing the point y_0 satisfies

$$2wr - r^2 - 1 \le \dim(N_{y_0}) \le 2wr - r^2 - 1 + c,$$

where c is the cohomogeneity of the action of Sp(d+i) — a constant that does not depend on i. We will subsequently always assume w > c. Next we want to show that $N_{y_0,q}$ does not depend on q > 2 either.

Given an odd prime q consider the sequence $N_{y_0,q} \supset N_{y_0,q^2} \supset \cdots$. Using [5, Ch. VII, Th. 3.1] we see that the components of $\operatorname{Fix}(A_{w,q^{i+1}}) \cap N_{y_0,q^i}$ have the cohomology of complex projective spaces with respect to \mathbb{Z}_q -coefficients.

One of these components is $N_{y_0,q^{i+1}}$. By the above dimension estimate it has codimension at most c. If there were another component, then it is easy to verify, as in the previous case, that it would have dimension at least w. But this is a contradiction as the Euler characteristic of $\operatorname{Fix}(A_{w,q^{i+1}}) \cap N_{y_0,q^i}$ is equal to the Euler characteristic of N_{y_0,q^i} .

This proves $N_{y_0,q} = N_{y_0,q^i}$ for all odd primes q, i > 0. Similarly one proves $N_{y_0,4} = N_{y_0,2^i}$ for all i > 2. Moreover it is clear that the set $\bigcap_{i>0} N_{y_0,q^i}$ is independent of the integer $q \ge 2$. In summary we can say that $N_{y_0,q}$ is independent of q > 2.

This is equivalent to saying that the slice representation of S^1 has only weights 0, 1, and 2. If we can determine the number of each of the weights, then we can proceed as in the previous case and we are done. For that in turn it suffices to determine the dimensions of $N_{y_0,2}$ and $N_{y_0,3}$. The former is given by equation 3. For the latter we claim that

$$\dim(N_{y_0,3}) = 2wr - 2.$$

It is known that $\operatorname{Fix}(A_{w,3})$ has at most three components and if there are three components, then their dimension adds up to $n_i - 4$; see Bredon. One of the components, F_w , has dimension $n_i - 4wr$. Thus we have to prove that there is a third component which has the same dimension as $N_{y_0,3}$. Consider the matrix $J := \operatorname{diag}(j, \ldots, j, 1, \ldots, 1)$ for which the entry $j \in \mathbb{H}$ occurs precisely w times. Notice that $JA_{w,q}J^{-1} = A_{w,q}^{-1}$. Thus J leaves the fixed-point set of $A_{w,q}$ invariant. We claim that $JN_{y_0,q}$ is a different component of $\operatorname{Fix}(A_{w,q})$ for q > 2.

Consider the action of U(w) on $N_{y_0,q}$. If $JN_{y_0,q} = N_{y_0,q}$, then the group $\bar{U}(w)$ generated by U(w) and J would leave $N_{y_0,q}$ invariant. Notice that the orbit $\bar{U}(w) \star y_0$ is disconnected. Since $N_{y_0,q}$ is connected, there must be an isotropy group K of a point $z_0 \in N_{y_0,q}$ corresponding to a face of the orbit space $N_{y_0,q}/\bar{U}(w)$ such that $\bar{U}(w)/K$ is connected. Then K necessarily has precisely two components, and the identity component is given by the principal isotropy group \bar{H} of the action of $\bar{U}(w)$ on $N_{y_0,q}$. Since $N_{y_0,q}$ is fixed by $A_{w,q}$ for all q, we have $\bar{H} = U(w - k) \cdot C$, where C is the center of U(w). This in turn implies that the isotropy group of z_0 with respect to the G_{d+i} -action has two components as well, and the identity component is $S^1 \cdot B_{k+i}$. In particular, the orbit $G_{n+i} \star z_0$ is not in the face F from Step 1, i.e., in the collection of all G_{n+i} -orbits whose isotropy groups contain a k+i+1 block. By the soul orbit theorem (Theorem 4.1) the manifold without these orbits is equivariantly diffeomorphic to the normal bundle of the soul orbit $G_{n+i} \star y_0$ — a contradiction.

5.4. Proof of Step 4. There is nothing to prove in the even dimensional case. Thus we may assume that $\dim(M_i) = n_i$ is odd. We consider again the soul orbit $\mathsf{G}_{n+i} \star y_0$. The isotropy group is given by $\mathsf{L} \cdot \mathsf{B}_{k+i}$, where L is in the normalizer of the $(k+i) \times (k+i)$ block B_{k+i} . In the cases $\mathsf{G}_{n+i} = \mathsf{SO}(n+i)$,

SU(n + i), it is actually useful to consider the corresponding orbit-equivalent isometric actions of O(n + i), U(n + i), which can be obtained as subactions from G_{n+i+1} on M_{i+1} . So we change notation and put $G_{n+i} = O(n+i)$, U(n+i)if u = 1, 2. We change B_{k+i} consistently and think of it as the lower $k \times k$ block in G_n . After this change of notation we may assume that L is contained in the upper (d - k) block. Since the inclusion map $G_{n+i} \star y_0 \to M_i$ is u(k + i)connected, it follows that L is isomorphic to $\pi_1(M)$. The embedding of L in the upper (d - k) block induces a faithful representation

$$\rho: \mathsf{L} \to \mathbb{R}^{u(d-k)}$$

It suffices to prove that ρ induces a free action on the sphere $\mathbb{S}^{u(d-k)-1}$.

We argue by contradiction. Suppose there is a finite cyclic subgroup $\mathbb{Z}_p \subset \mathsf{L}$ of prime order p such that $\rho(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ does act freely on the sphere. We now consider the manifold M'_i that is obtained from the universal cover \tilde{M}_i of M_i by dividing the cyclic group \mathbb{Z}_p . Clearly the manifold M'_i also admits an action G_{n+i} , and the inverse image of the soul orbit in M'_i is again an orbit whose inclusion map is u(k + i)-connected. In other words we have reduced the problem to the case of a cyclic group of prime order.

Now, suppose that L has prime order and that the representation ρ does not induce a free action. Then there is a nontrivial subspace of $\mathbb{R}^{u(d-k)}$ that is fixed by ρ . This in turn implies that the homogeneous vector bundle

$$\mathsf{G}_{n+i}/\mathsf{B}_{k+i} \times_{\rho \mid \mathsf{L}} \mathbb{R}^{u(d-k)}$$

over the soul orbit $G_{n+i} \star y_0$ has a section. In particular, its Euler class is zero. On the other hand we have seen that this bundle is the pull back of the normal bundle of M_i in M_{i+1} . Since the inclusion map $M_i \to M_{i+1}$ is $\dim(M_i)$ -connected, the Euler class is a generator of its cohomology group, a contradiction as the even dimensional cohomology groups are equal to \mathbb{Z}_p .

6. The linear model of a chain

THEOREM 6.1. Suppose that G_d acts isometrically on a simply connected positively curved manifold M and that the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 is satisfied. Then M is homotopically equivalent to a compact rank one symmetric space S (the model). There is a linear action of G_d on S such that the isotropy groups of the two actions are in one-to-one correspondence.

In the case that M is homeomorphic to a sphere Σ^n , the theorem is actually a consequence of a theorem of Hsiang and Davis [7], and Hsiang, Davis and Morgan [8]. In fact they also show that Σ is then necessarily given by a Brieskorn variety. A theorem of Hsiang and Straume [15] asserts that an action of SU(d) on a simply connected manifold with the cohomology ring of \mathbb{S}^n , \mathbb{CP}^n or \mathbb{HP}^n has a linear model, provided that the number of orbit types is at most p(d), the number of partitions of d. Using the soul orbit theorem (Theorem 4.1) it is easy to verify the hypothesis. Hence one can use this result to prove Theorem 6.1 for $G_d = SU(d)$. By their theorem all slice representations coincide with the corresponding slice representations of the linear model as well. The authors also indicate that similar theorems should hold for $G_d = SO(d)$, Sp(d), but this has not been carried out yet.

For us the main use of Theorem 6.1 is that it guarantees large isotropy groups. This will be particularly useful in Sections 8 and 14

Proof. By assumption the principal isotropy group H_{d+i} of the G_{d+i} -action on M_i contains a $k+i \times k+i$ block B_{k+i} as a normal subgroup. Furthermore, if we remove all orbits whose isotropy groups contain a $(k+i+1) \times (k+i+1)$ block, then the resulting manifold is equivariantly diffeomorphic to the normal bundle of the soul orbit $G_{d+i} \star y_0$. As we have seen in the proof of Theorem 5.1, the isotropy group of y_0 is given by $L \cdot B_{k+i}$ with L being in the normalizer of B_{k+i} and $L = \{1\}, S^1$ or S^3 .

Consider first the case that L is trivial or equivalently that M_i is homeomorphic to a sphere. By the previous argument any nonprincipal isotropy group K contains a $(k + i + 1) \times (k + i + 1)$ block. Next we show that K is a block. Consider the slice representation of K as an action on the normal sphere. The principal isotropy group of that action is H_{d+i} . Since K contains a $(k + i + 1) \times (k + i + 1)$ block, the soul orbit theorem (Theorem 4.1) tells us that if we remove all orbits from the normal sphere whose isotropy group contains a $(k+i+1) \times (k+1)$ block, then the resulting manifold is equivariantly diffeomorphic to a the normal bundle of a soul orbit. Since the corresponding isotropy group contains no $(k + i + 1) \times (k + i + 1)$ block, it must be principal by the previous argument. Thus the principal orbit is (k+i-1)-connected, as its inclusion map is (k + i)-connected. Since H_{d+i} is a block, this implies that K is a block as well for sufficiently large i and hence for all i.

If G_d has a fixed-point in M, we are done. Thus we may assume G_d has no fixed-point. We plan to prove next that $\dim(M_{d+i}) = u(d+i)(d-k) - 1$. In case of u = 1, 2 it is useful to replace G_d by the orbit equivalent actions of O(d) or U(d), respectively. Since the isotropy groups of the G_{d+i} -actions are blocks, the nonexistence of a fixed-point of G_{d+i} implies that $-id \in G_d$ has no fixed-points either. The quotient $N_i := M_i / \pm id$ is a cohomology \mathbb{RP}^{d_i} .

For the induced action of G_{d+i} on N_i we consider the element

$$\iota = \operatorname{diag}(-1, \ldots, -1, 1 \ldots 1)$$

with precisely d - k entries being equal to -1 for i > d - k. By Bredon, the fixed-point set of ι has two components, and their dimensions add up to $n_i - 1$. Clearly one of the components is isometric to M_{i-d+k} , and its codimension is given by $u(d-k)^2$. Notice that $-\iota$ is contained in the lower $(k+i) \times (k+i)$ block. Thus the other component has codimension u(d-k)(k+i). Consequently, $n_i = u(d-k)(d+i) - 1$.

This in turn shows that there is a linear action of G_d on the sphere \mathbb{S}^{n_i} with principal isotropy group H_{n+i} . It only remains to check that G_{d+i-1} occurs as an isotropy group of the G_{d+i} -action on M_i . Suppose not. Then we could pass to the fixed-point free G_{n+i-1} -subaction on M_i and prove as above that $n_i = u(d-k)(d+i-1) - 1$, which is nonsense.

In the case that M is homotopically equivalent to $\mathbb{CP}^{n/2}$ or $\mathbb{HP}^{n/4}$ the theorem follows by a careful analysis of the proof that the homotopy equivalence is tangential combined with arguments that are similar to the above case. \Box

7. Homogeneous spaces with spherical isotropy representations

We call the isotropy representation of a homogeneous space G/H spherical if any nontrivial irreducible subrepresentation is transitive on the sphere; cf. Definition 3.3. The reason why we are interested in these homogeneous spaces is Lemma 3.4. We are actually mainly interested in how the normal simple subgroups of H can sit in G. Notice that if H' is a normal subgroup of H, then G/H' has a spherical isotropy representation. We begin by the following observation:

LEMMA 7.1. If G/H has a spherical isotropy representation, and H is a simple connected group of rank ≥ 2 , then H is contained in a simple normal subgroup of G.

Notice that this is actually obvious because if H were to lie diagonally in G, then the adjoint representation of H would be a subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H. If H is a simple group of rank 1, one can easily conclude that for any projection \overline{H} to a simple factor G' of G the space G'/\overline{H} also has a spherical isotropy representation. This way we have effectively limited our problem to the case of a simple Lie group G.

LEMMA 7.2. Let G = SO(n), SU(n), Sp(n) and $H \cong S^3, SO(3)$. Suppose that G/H has a spherical isotropy representation. Then one of the following holds:

- a) H is embedded as a 3×3 block of SO(n).
- b) G = SO(n) and the embedding $H \to SO(n)$ is a real representation that decomposes into a trivial representation and irreducible subrepresentations of real dimension 4.
- c) G = SU(n) and the embedding $H \rightarrow SU(n)$ is a complex representation that decomposes as a trivial representation and representations of complex dimension 2.
- d) $\mathsf{G} = \mathsf{Sp}(n)$ and up to conjugacy $\mathsf{H} = \{ \operatorname{diag}(q, q \dots, q, 1, \dots, 1) \mid q \in \mathsf{S}^3 \}.$

PROPOSITION 7.3. Let G = SO(n), SU(n), Sp(n), and let H be a simple, connected proper subgroup of rank ≥ 2 such that G/H has a spherical isotropy representation. Then one of the following holds:

- a) Up to conjugacy H is given as a $k \times k$ block in G.
- b) G = SO(n) and
 - (i) $\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{SU}(3) \subset \mathsf{SO}(6) \subset \mathsf{SO}(n),$
 - (ii) $\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{G}_2 \subset \mathsf{SO}(7) \subset \mathsf{SO}(n),$
 - (iii) $\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{Sp}(2) \subset \mathsf{SU}(4) \subset \mathsf{SO}(8) \subset \mathsf{SO}(n),$
 - (iv) $\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{SU}(4) \subset \mathsf{SO}(8) \subset \mathsf{SO}(n)$ or
 - (v) $H = Spin(7) \subset SO(8) \subset SO(n)$.
- c) G = SU(n) and $H = Sp(2) \subset SU(4) \subset SU(n)$.

PROPOSITION 7.4. Let G be one of the exceptional compact simple Lie groups, and let H be a connected simple proper subgroup of rank ≥ 2 such that G/H has a spherical isotropy representation. Then one of the following holds:

- a) $(G, H) = (G_2, SU(3)).$
- b) G is one of the other exceptional groups and H ⊂ Spin(9) ⊂ F₄ ⊂ E₆ ⊂ E₇ ⊂ E₈. Furthermore H ⊂ Spin(9) is given by a k × k block with k = 5,6,7,8,9, unless H = SU(3) or G₂.

By a $k \times k$ block of Spin(9) we mean that the epimorphism $\text{Spin}(9) \to \text{SO}(9)$ maps the group H up to conjugacy to a $k \times k$ block of SO(9).

The proofs of the above results are straightforward and we omit them.

8. Exceptional actions with large principal isotropy groups

THEOREM 8.1. Let G be a simple, simply connected Lie group acting nontrivially, isometrically and nontransitively on a positively curved manifold M. Suppose that the principal isotropy group of that action has a simple, connected normal subgroup H' of rank ≥ 2 . Suppose also that the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 is not satisfied. Then (G, H') is one of the following pairs:

- $(E_7, Spin(8)), (E_6, Spin(8)),$
- (F₄, Spin(8)), (F₄, SU(3)),
- (Spin(10), SU(4)), (Spin(10), SU(3)),
- (Spin(9), Spin(7)), (Spin(9), G₂), (Spin(9), SU(3)),
- (Spin(8), G₂), (Spin(8), SU(3)),
- (Spin(7), G₂), (Spin(7), SU(3)) or (G₂, SU(3)).

These are precisely the pairs that occur for linear actions on spheres. Of course, these pairs can occur in arbitrarily high dimensions if one stabilizes the representation by a trivial one. The embedding $H' \subset G$ is uniquely determined by the previous section. In the case of G = Spin(8) we assumed that the hypothesis of the stability theorem is not satisfied even up to an outer automorphism. Notice that the theorem implies in particular that E_8 cannot act on a positively curved manifold with a large principal isotropy group; see also Proposition 8.9 and Corollary 12.2.

Propositions 7.3 and 7.4 reduce the problem of proving Theorem 8.1 considerably. We treat the remaining cases in the following seven lemmas. The hypothesis of Theorem 8.1 is assumed to be valid for the remainder of this section. We may also assume that M is simply connected.

LEMMA 8.2. Suppose H contains SU(3) as a normal subgroup. Then G is one of the groups F_4 , Spin(7), Spin(8), Spin(9), Spin(10), or G_2 .

Proof. We argue by contradiction. By the previous section G = Spin(l) or E_k with $l \ge 11$ or k = 6, 7, 8. Consider first the case of G = Spin(l). The first step is to show that there is an isotropy group containing $Spin(h) \supset SU(3)$ embedded as an $h \times h$ block. For that we consider the possibility that there is an isotropy group K containing K' \cong SU(4) or Spin(7) as a normal subgroup. We may assume that K' is not embedded as a block. Consider the central involution ι in K'. Then Fix(ι) has a component M' with an action of Spin(l - 8) · Spin(8) whose principal isotropy group contains K' ⊂ Spin(8). It is easy to see that this action is not transitive. This implies that the subaction of Spin(8) has cohomogeneity ≥ 3 on M'. Notice that the embedding of K' ⊂ Spin(8) is up to an outer automorphism of Spin(8) given by a block. Theorem 6.1 tells us that Spin(8) has a fixed-point.

To establish the first step it only remains to rule out the possibility that any isotropy group has either SU(3) or G_2 as a normal subgroup. By the rank lemma (Proposition 1.4) there is an isotropy group K of rank ≥ 3 whose orbit type is not isolated. If we choose K minimal, it is easy to see that $K = S^1 \cdot SU(3)$ or $K = S^3 \cdot SU(3)$. The isotropy representation of Spin(l)/Kcontains a 6k-dimensional irreducible representation with finite kernel. Clearly such a representation cannot degenerate in an isotropy group containing G_2 as a normal subgroup.

Thus there is an isotropy group K containing $\text{Spin}(h) \supset \text{SU}(3) \subset \text{H}$ embedded as an $h \times h$ block. We may assume that Spin(h) is a normal subgroup of K; see Lemma 2.7. We choose h minimal. Consider the central involution $\iota \in \text{Spin}(h)$ that is also central in Spin(l). Then $\text{Fix}(\iota)$ has a component M' with an action of Spin(l) whose principal isotropy group contains Spin(h). By Theorem 6.1 Spin(l-1) occurs as the identity component of an isotropy group. For $l \geq 12$ this is a contradiction as there is no representation of

Spin(l-1) with principal isotropy group being SU(3). For l = 11 the slice representation of Spin(11)/Spin(10) necessarily consists of the 32-dimensional spin representation, the 10-dimensional standard representation and a trivial representation. If the trivial representation were larger than one dimensional, then we could employ Theorem 6.1, to guarantee a fixed-point of Spin(11). Thus $\dim(M) = 52, 53$.

Consider the subgroups $\{e\} \subset SU(2) \subset SU(3) \subset G_2 \subset Spin(7)_{ns} \subset$ Spin(8) of Spin(10), where Spin(7)_{ns} is embedded by the 8-dimensional representation. We denote the fixed-point components containing a component of Fix(Spin(10)) of these groups by

$$M^{53-\varepsilon} \supset N^{29-\varepsilon}_{\mathsf{SU}(2)} \supset N^{17-\varepsilon}_{\mathsf{SU}(3)} \supset N^{12-\varepsilon}_{\mathsf{G}_2} \supset N^{7-\varepsilon}_{ns} \supset N^{5-\varepsilon}_{\mathsf{Spin}(8)},$$

where the upper index denotes the dimension and $\varepsilon \in \{1, 0\}$. The connectedness lemma implies that all manifolds are simply connected. If $\varepsilon = 0$, we can use the totally geodesic embedding $N_{\text{Spin}(8)}^5 \subset N_{ns}^7$ to see that both manifolds are homotopy spheres; see [22, Prop. 7.3].

Suppose for a moment we can show this no matter whether $\varepsilon = 0$ or 1. Then we can argue as follows. Notice that $N_{ns}^{7-\varepsilon}$ is invariant under an action of Spin(3) embedded as a normal subgroup of Spin(3) \cdot Spin(7)_{ns} \subset Spin(11). The central involution $\iota \in$ Spin(3) coincides with the central involution in Spin(10), and $N_{\text{Spin}(8)}^{5-\varepsilon}$ is a component of the fixed-point set of ι restricted to $N_{ns}^{7-\varepsilon}$. Since the manifolds are spheres, we can use Smith theory to see that ι has no other components. Thus Spin(3) has no singular orbits in $B := N_{ns}^{7-\varepsilon} \setminus N_{\text{Spin}(8)}^{5-\varepsilon}$. This implies that the rational Spin(3)-equivariant cohomology of B is given by the cohomology of the orbit space B/S^3 . On the other hand B is a cohomology \mathbb{S}^1 , and a simple computation shows that the cohomology of $B \times_{S^3} ES^3$ is given by the cohomology of $\mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{HP}^{\infty}$.

In the case of $\varepsilon = 1$ it remains to verify that $N_{\mathsf{Spin}(8)}^4 \subset N_{ns}^6$ are homotopy spheres. Suppose not. Since $N_{\mathsf{Spin}(8)}^4$ is invariant under a nontrivial $\mathsf{Spin}(3)$ action, we can employ a result of Hsiang and Kleiner [14] to see that $N_{\mathsf{Spin}(8)}^4$ is homeomorphic to \mathbb{CP}^2 . Then N_{ns}^6 is a homotopy \mathbb{CP}^3 . Furthermore the involution $\iota \in \mathsf{Spin}(3)$ has in N_{ns}^4 precisely one isolated fixed-point outside $N_{\mathsf{Spin}(8)}$. Using the fact that ι is central, we see that $\mathsf{Spin}(3)$ fixes this point as well. Hence there is an isotropy group K containing $\mathsf{Spin}(3) \cdot \mathsf{Spin}(7)_{ns}$. But then it is easy to see that there is also an isotropy group K_2 containing $\mathsf{Spin}(3) \cdot \mathsf{SU}(4)$ with the additional property that its orbit type is not isolated. The irreducible 24-dimensional subrepresentation of $\mathsf{Spin}(11)/\mathsf{K}_2$ is not equivalent to a subrepresentation of the slice. Thus it has to degenerate by Lemma 3.1 which can only happen in a fixed-point of $\mathsf{Spin}(11) - a$ contradiction.

Thus $G = E_6, E_7, E_8$. Essentially as in the spin case one can show that there is an isotropy group K which contains $Spin(h) \supset SU(3)$. The embedding

is unique in this case, and again we may assume that $\mathsf{Spin}(h)$ is normal in K. If we choose h minimal, then it is easy to see that $h \leq 7$.

Let ι be the central involution in Spin(h). Then a fixed-point component M' of ι admits an isometric action of the normalizer $N(\iota)$ whose principal isotropy group contains Spin(h). If $G = E_7$ or E_8 , then $N(\iota) = S^3 \cdot \text{Spin}(12)$ or Spin(16). It then follows from Theorem 6.1 that there is an isotropy group containing Spin(11). But this is clearly impossible as there is no representation of Spin(11) or of a bigger group whose principal isotropy group contains SU(3) as a normal subgroup. Thus we may assume $G = E_6$. Then M' comes with an action of $S^1 \times \text{Spin}(10)$. If h < 7, then there is an isotropy group contains 3 times the 9-dimensional representation. This is clearly impossible, since the principal isotropy group contains SU(3) as a normal subgroup whose slice representation contains 4 times the 9-dimensional representation. This is clearly impossible, since the principal isotropy group contains SU(3) as a normal subgroup whose slice representation contains 4 times the 9-dimensional representation. This is clearly impossible, since the principal isotropy group contains SU(3) as a normal subgroup. Thus h = 7. If $\dim(M') \ge 30$, then we can employ Theorem 6.1 to show that Spin(10) is contained in an isotropy group. Furthermore the slice representation of Spin(10) contains three 10-dimensional subgroups. — a contradiction.

Thus we may assume $\dim(M') < 30$. By Theorem 6.1 $\dim(M') = 29$ and thereby $\dim(M) = 77$. As above we can show that Spin(9) is contained in an isotropy group such that the slice representation contains two 9-dimensional subrepresentations of Spin(9). It is then easy to see that Fix(Spin(9)) has a 2-dimensional component which is invariant under an S^1 -action. Thus there is a larger isotropy group K with identity component $S^1 \cdot \text{Spin}(9)$. The slice representation of K restricted to Spin(9) contains a unique 16-dimensional subrepresentation (of real type). Thus the action of the circle $S^1 \subset K$ must fix the 16-dimensional subrepresentation pointwise. On the other hand the order 2 element in $S^1 \subset S^1 \cdot \text{Spin}(9) \subset E_6$ coincides with the central element of Spin(9)— a contradiction.

LEMMA 8.3. Suppose that H contains the exceptional Lie group G_2 as a normal subgroup. Then G = Spin(9) or Spin(8).

Proof. Since G/H_0 has a spherical isotropy representation, $H_0 = G_2$. Notice that there is an isotropy group K corresponding to a face with $K_0 \cong Spin(7)$.

Let us first rule out $G \cong E_7, E_8$. Choose the central element $\iota \in Spin(7)$. Then a component of $Fix(\iota)$ admits an action of $S^3 \cdot Spin(12)$ or Spin(16) whose principal isotropy group contains a 7×7 block. By Theorem 6.1, it follows that there is an isotropy group \bar{K} containing Spin(11). Since there is no representation of Spin(11) whose principal isotropy group is G_2 this is a contradiction.

Next we consider $G = E_6$. We can use a similar argument to show that Spin(8) occurs as a normal subgroup of an isotropy group. Given that Spin(8) is a regular subgroup, we can find an isotropy group \bar{K} of rank ≥ 5 containing Spin(8). Since Spin(10) has no representation with principal isotropy group being G_2 , it follows that $\bar{K}_0 = Spin(9) \cdot K'$ or $Spin(8) \cdot K'$, where $K' \subset \bar{K}_0$ is

a normal subgroup of rank at least 1. Furthermore it is easy to reduce the former case to the latter. Thus we may assume $\bar{K}_0 = \text{Spin}(8) \cdot \text{K}'$. The slice representation contains two nonequivalent representations of Spin(8), and it is clear that these two 8-dimensional subspaces are necessarily fixed by K'. Therefore there is also an isotropy group \tilde{K} of the form $\tilde{K}_0 = \text{Spin}(7) \cdot \text{K}'$ with the additional property that \tilde{K} does not correspond to an isolated orbit type. It is now straightforward to check that $E_6/\text{Spin}(7) \cdot \text{K}'$ contains an irreducible subrepresentation of dimension 16 or of dimension 32. This representation is necessarily not equivalent to a subrepresentation of the slice. Hence it has to degenerate by Lemma 3.1. Thus there is a larger isotropy group \hat{K} such that $\hat{K}/\text{Spin}(7) \cdot \text{K}'$ contains a 16- or 32-dimensional isotropy representation. This implies $\hat{K}_0 = \text{Spin}(10) \cdot \text{S}^1$ or E_6 — a contradiction as these groups have no representations whose principal isotropy groups contain G_2 as a normal subgroup.

Next we consider G = Spin(l) for $l \ge 10$. As before, let K be an isotropy group corresponding to a face with $K_0 \cong \text{Spin}(7)$. If Spin(7) is embedded by the 8-dimensional representation, then we can argue as follows. Let ι be the central involution of Spin(7). Then $\text{Fix}(\iota)$ has a component M' with an isometric action of $\text{Spin}(8) \cdot \text{Spin}(l-8)$, whose principal isotropy group has Spin(7) as its identity component. Clearly Spin(8) has a fixed-point in M' and M' is fixed-point homogeneous. By Grove-Searle [12] $l \le 11$ and Spin(l-8) has a fixed-point as well. Therefore an isotropy group of \bar{K} contains $\text{Spin}(l-8) \cdot \text{Spin}(7)$. It is then easy to see that there also must be an isotropy group containing $\text{Spin}(l-8) \cdot \text{G}_2$ with the additional property that it is not isolated. As before Lemma 3.1 yields the desired contradiction.

Thus we may assume that Spin(7) is embedded by the 7-dimensional representation. Consider again the central involution ι of Spin(7). Then ι is central in Spin(l), and $Fix(\iota)$ has a component M' with an isometric action of Spin(l), whose principal isotropy group has Spin(7) as its identity component. This implies that Spin(8) occurs as an isotropy group. Notice that the slice representation of Spin(8) consists of 2 nonequivalent 8-dimensional representations. It is then easy to see that there is an isotropy group K' whose identity component is Spin(7) embedded by the 8-dimensional representation.

We are left with the case of $G = F_4$. Again Spin(7) occurs as the identity component of an isotropy group corresponding to a face. Let ι be the central involution in Spin(7). Then Fix(ι) has a component M' that is invariant under an action of Spin(9) whose principal isotropy group has a Spin(7) block as identity component embedded as a 7×7 block. Clearly the action cannot be transitive. Thus dim(M) ≥ 40 . If dim(M) ≥ 42 , then dim(M') ≥ 18 and it follows that Spin(9) has a fixed-point in M' by Theorem 6.1. This implies that the slice representation of $F_4/Spin(9)$ has two 9-dimensional subrepresentations which is nonsense as its principal isotropy group is G_2 . Hence dim(M) = 40, 41. We consider a fixed-point component N of G_2 of codimension 35. The normalizer of G_2 in F_4 is connected and isomorphic to $SO(3) \times G_2$. The orbit spaces N/SO(3) and M/F_4 are isometric, and the Spin(7)-face corresponds in N/SO(3) to a face with finite isotropy group. Since this isotropy group cannot preserve an orientation of N, it follows that N is not orientable. By Synge's theorem the dimension of N is even and $\pi_1(N) \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$. Thus $\dim(M) = 41$ and $\dim(N) = 6$.

Let N_i be the fixed-point component of $SU(i) \subset SU(3)$ containing N(i = 2, 3). It is easy to see that $\dim(N_2) = 21$ and $\dim(N_3) = 11$. Applying the connectedness lemma repeatedly to the chain $N^6 \subset N_2^{11} \subset N_3^{21} \subset M^{41}$ we see that the inclusion map $N \to M$ is 2-connected — a contradiction.

LEMMA 8.4. The isotropy representation of G/H cannot contain both a 5as well an 8-dimensional irreducible subrepresentation.

Proof. We argue by contradiction. By the previous section G = Spin(n), $SU(n), F_4, E_6, E_7, E_8$, and H contains Sp(2) as a normal subgroup. If the cohomogeneity is larger than 1, then there is an isotropy group K such that the isotropy representation of K/H contains both an 8- and a 5-dimensional representation. The slice representation induces a cohomogeneity-one action on the normal sphere and the principal isotropy group is H. No such representation exists.

If the cohomogeneity equals 1, then the 8-dimensional representation has to degenerate. It follows that $K/H \cong S^{11}$, and the corank of K is at most one. In summary we can say $K \subset G$ has Sp(3) as a normal subgroup of and corank(K) ≤ 1 . This actually rules out all groups G except for $G = F_4$. In this remaining case one can argue as follows. Consider the central element $\iota \in Sp(3)$, which acts necessarily as -id on the slice. There is also a 28dimensional subspace $U \subset TF_4/K$ on which ι acts as -id. This subspace is totally geodesic. On the other hand this subspace has intrinsic zero curvatures - a contradiction.

LEMMA 8.5. If the isotropy representation of G/H contains both a 7-dimensional as well as an 8-dimensional irreducible subspace, then $G \cong$ Spin(9).

Proof. From the previous subsection it follows that Spin(7) is a normal subgroup of G. Furthermore the irreducible subrepresentations of G/Spin(7) are of real type. Since G/H_0 has a spherical isotropy representation, it follows that $H_0 \cong Spin(7)$. Let us first consider the case of cohomogeneity > 1. By the isotropy lemma there is an isotropy group K corresponding to a face of the orbit space, such that the isotropy representation of K/H contains the 8-dimensional representation of H. Since K/H is a sphere, it follows that K has a normal

subgroup isomorphic to Spin(9), and the slice representation of K is given by the 16-dimensional spin representation of Spin(9). Suppose for a moment that the isotropy representation of G/K has an irreducible subrepresentation whose kernel does not contain Spin(9) and that is not equivalent to the slice representation of K. Then there is an isotropy group \bar{K} corresponding to a codimension 2 stratum such that the isotropy representation of \bar{K}/K contains this representation. In particular, Spin(9) is not a normal subgroup of \bar{K} . On the other hand, the slice representation of \bar{K} induces a cohomogeneity-one action on the sphere with principal isotropy group H — a contradiction, as such a representation does not exist.

Thus we now can assume that the isotropy representation of G/Spin(9) decomposes as a trivial representation and a 16-dimensional irreducible subrepresentation. Consider the central involution ι in Spin(9). The centralizer $N(\iota)$ must contain Spin(9) as a normal subgroup. Using the fact that $G/N(\iota)$ is a symmetric space we deduce $G = F_4$, K = Spin(9), and H = Spin(7).

If the cohomogeneity is larger than 2 we can employ Lemma 3.1 to see that the 8-dimensional spin representation of Spin(7) has to degenerate twice. This would imply that F_4 has a fixed-point which is nonsense as there is no representation of F_4 with principal isotropy group Spin(7).

If the cohomogeneity is 2, then $\dim(M) = 33$. It is easy to see that there are only two orbit types with isotropy groups $\operatorname{Spin}(7)$ and $\operatorname{Spin}(9)$, respectively. In particular, it follows from the soul orbit theorem that M is 7-connected, as this is true for $F_4/\operatorname{Spin}(7)$. Consider next the fixed-point set of $\operatorname{SU}(2) \subset \operatorname{Spin}(7)$ embedded as a normal subgroup of a 4×4 block. It is easy to see that there is a component $N \subset \operatorname{Fix}(\operatorname{SU}(2))$ of dimension 17. Using the connectedness lemma (Theorem 1.2) we see that the inclusion map $N \to M$ is 5-connected and hence N is 4-connected. The manifold N is invariant under an action of $\operatorname{Sp}(3)$. There are only two orbit types for this action as well, corresponding to the isotropy groups $\operatorname{Sp}(2) \cdot \operatorname{S}^3$ and $\operatorname{Sp}(1)^2$. Using the soul orbit theorem again, we see that the inclusion map $\operatorname{Sp}(3)/\operatorname{Sp}(1)^2 \to N$ of a principal orbit is 7-connected — a contradiction as N is 4-connected.

So we are left with the case of cohomogeneity 1. Combining the previous subsection, the rank lemma and $H_0 \cong \text{Spin}(7)$, we see that G is one of the groups F_4 , Spin(10) or Spin(11), and it is not hard to rule out each of them separately.

LEMMA 8.6. Suppose G/H has a 6-dimensional as well as an 8-dimensional irreducible subrepresentation. Then G = Spin(10).

Proof. We argue by contradiction. Notice that our assumptions imply by the previous subsection that $SU(4) \cong Spin(6)$ is a normal subgroup of H. We first consider the case of cohomogeneity ≥ 3 . By Lemma 3.2 there is an

isotropy group \bar{K} corresponding to a stratum of codimension ≤ 2 such that K/H contains both the 6- and the 8-dimensional representation of H.

It is easy to see that Spin(10) is the only simple group which has a representation satisfying the hypothesis of the lemma. Since the orbit type of $\mathsf{K} \supset \mathsf{Spin}(10)$ is not isolated, we can use Lemma 3.1 to see that any nontrivial subrepresentation of G/Spin(10) is isomorphic to the 32-dimensional subrepresentation of the slice representation. This implies that Spin(10) is a normal subgroup of the normalizer $N(\iota)$ of ι , where ι is the central involution in Spin(10). Using the fact that $G/N(\iota)$ is a symmetric space one easily deduces $G = E_6$. Furthermore $\bar{K}_0 = Spin(10)$ or $\bar{K}_0 = S^1 \cdot Spin(10)$. The slice representation of $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ consists of a trivial representation and a 32-dimensional irreducible representation. Let $U \subset T_p \mathsf{E}_6/\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ be the unique 32-dimensional invariant subspace. Consider the equivariant tensor $B: S^2U \to \nu_p(T_p \mathsf{E}_6/\bar{\mathsf{K}})$. The unique central order 2 element $\iota \in \text{Spin}(10)$ acts as -id on U. Thus it acts trivially on S^2U . Consequently the image of B lies in the subspace corresponding to the trivial representation. The trivial subrepresentations of S^2U correspond to the space of equivariant selfadjoint endomorphisms of U. Since the representation of Spin(10) in U is irreducible, it follows that S^2U contains only one trivial representation. Thus the image of $B: S^2U \to \nu_p(T_p \mathsf{E}_6/\bar{\mathsf{K}})$ is at most one dimensional. Let $N \in \nu_p(T_p \mathsf{E}_6/\bar{\mathsf{K}})$ be a unit vector such that $\mathbb{R} \cdot N$ contains $B(S^2U)$. Since we may represent the bilinear form $\langle B(u,v), N \rangle$ of U by a self-adjoint equivariant endomorphism of U, we deduce that $\langle B(u, v), N \rangle$ is semidefinite. The 32-dimensional subspace U can be canonically identified with the tangent space of the rank-two symmetric space $E_6/S^1 \cdot Spin(10)$. In particular, we can find linear independent vectors $u, v \in U$ that generate a plane of intrinsic curvature zero in E_6/K . The previous argument shows that we can employ the Gauss equations to see that the actual curvature of the plane $\operatorname{span}\{u, v\}$ is smaller or equal to the intrinsic curvature — a contradiction.

If the cohomogeneity of the action is one, we can use more direct methods to show that this cannot happen for $G \neq Spin(10)$. Thus we may assume that the cohomogeneity is 2. As before, there is an isotropy group K containing Spin(10) as a normal subgroup. Since K acts with cohomogeneity 2 on the slice, the orbit type of G/K is necessarily isolated, and the slice representation restricts to the 32-dimensional representation of Spin(10). This also implies that $K_0/Spin(10) \cong H/SU(4)$ is abelian.

Let $N(\iota) \subset \mathsf{G}$ be the normalizer of the central element ι of order 2 in $\mathsf{Spin}(10)$. Then ι acts as $-\operatorname{id}$ on the slice. Thus the homogeneous space $N(\iota)/\mathsf{K}$ is a fixed-point component of ι . Since $(\mathsf{G}, N(\iota))$ is a symmetric pair and $N(\iota)/\mathsf{K}$ is a homogeneous space of positive sectional curvature, it follows that $\mathsf{G} = \mathsf{E}_6, \mathsf{Spin}(11)$. As before we can rule out E_6 . Thus we are left with $\mathsf{G} = \mathsf{Spin}(11)$ and $\dim(M) = 42$. Suppose first that the two dimensional orbit space has only two faces. Then it is a biangle with isotropy groups $\mathsf{Spin}(7)$ and

SU(5) for the two faces and two vertices with isotropy group Spin(10). Notice that the fixed-point set of Spin(7) is a 4-dimensional manifold which is invariant under an isometric action of Spin(3). In fact using the above description of the orbit structure it easily follows that Fix(Spin(7)) is diffeomorphic to $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^2$ contradicting [14].

Thus we may assume that the orbit space has three faces and is a triangle, and the Spin(10)-vertex has an angle $\pi/4$. By Gauss Bonnet the sum of all three angles is larger than π . Thus at least one of the other angles is $\pi/2$, and the corresponding slice representation is reducible. From this it easily follows that the other face has the isotropy group $S^1 \cdot SU(4)$, and the other vertices have the isotropy groups $S^1 \cdot SU(5)$ and $S^1 \cdot Spin(7)$.

The isotropy representation of $\text{Spin}(11)/\text{SU}(4) \cdot \text{S}^1$ cannot contain a 12dimensional irreducible representation, by Lemma 3.1. This actually determines the embedding of the circle in Spin(11), namely it has to be embedded as a Spin(2) block. The fixed-point set of Spin(2) is a cohomogeneity-one manifold with an action of Spin(9) whose principal isotropy group SU(4) is embedded by the 8-dimensional representation. But the 8-dimensional representation of Spin(9)/SU(4) cannot possibly degenerate.

LEMMA 8.7. H does not contain Spin(9).

Proof. Otherwise the 16-dimensional representation of Spin(9) would occur as a subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H. But it cannot degenerate.

LEMMA 8.8. If E_8 acts isometrically and nontrivially on a positively curved manifold, then the principal isotropy group has no simple subgroup of rank ≥ 2 .

Proof. Using the previous cases and Proposition 7.4, we only have to rule out the possibility that H contains Spin(8) as a normal subgroup. The normalizer $N(\iota)$ of a central involution ι in Spin(8) is given by Spin(16). By applying Theorem 6.1 to the action of Spin(16) on a fixed-point component we deduce that Spin(15) is contained in an isotropy group. Furthermore it is also clear that there is an isotropy group K containing Spin(14) such that its orbit type is not isolated. The isotropy representation of E_8/K contains a 128-dimensional irreducible subrepresentation. By Lemma 3.1 this representation has to degenerate which could only happen in a fixed-point.

PROPOSITION 8.9. Suppose the Lie group E_8 acts isometrically and nontrivially on a manifold M of positive sectional curvature. Then the identity component H_0 of the principal isotropy group H is abelian.

Proof. We argue by contradiction and assume that H_0 contains a simple normal subgroup H'. Because of Lemma 8.8 H_0 does not contain any simple

subgroups of rank ≥ 2 . If H contains a subgroup which is isomorphic to a 3×3 block of $\text{Spin}(16)/\mathbb{Z}_2 \subset E_8$, then one can argue as in the proof of Lemma 8.8.

Since the isotropy representation of E_8/H is spherical, this only leaves one possibility namely H' is given as a normal subgroup of $\mathsf{S}^3 \cdot \mathsf{E}_7 \subset \mathsf{E}_8$. In that case the fixed-point set of $\operatorname{Fix}(\mathsf{H}')$ has codimension $112 < \dim(M)/2$. Thus it follows from Frankel's theorem that for all $a \in \mathsf{E}_8$ the group K generated by H' and $a\mathsf{H}'a^{-1}$ has a nontrivial fixed-point set, namely $\operatorname{Fix}(\mathsf{H}') \cap a \star \operatorname{Fix}(\mathsf{H}')$. For a suitable choice we can arrange that K be given by an 8×8 block of $\operatorname{Spin}(16)$. It is then easy to deduce that there is an isotropy group $\bar{\mathsf{K}}$ of a point p containing a $k \times k$ block $\operatorname{Spin}(k)$ of $\operatorname{Spin}(16)/\mathbb{Z}_2 \subset \mathsf{E}_8$ as a normal subgroup, $k \geq 8$.

Notice that the central involution ι of $\mathsf{Spin}(16)/\mathbb{Z}_2$ is contained in K'. We consider the component N of $Fix(\iota)$ containing p. Since the slice representation of $\mathsf{Spin}(k)$ contains H' as subgroup of the principal isotropy group, we deduce that the slice representation of Spin(k) decomposes into spin and standard representations. Thus the principal isotropy group of the Spin(16)-action on N contains an $l \times l$ block with $l \geq 3$. The hypothesis of Theorem 6.1 is satisfied for the action of Spin(16) on N, except that N might not be simply connected. By Theorem 6.1 Spin(15) is contained in an isotropy group. It is then easy to see that there is an isotropy group $K \subseteq E_8$ whose orbit type is not isolated and which contains Spin(14). The isotropy representation E_8/K contains a 128-dimensional irreducible subrepresentation which is not equivalent to any subrepresentation of the slice representation. By Lemma 3.1 this representation has to degenerate which can only happen in a fixed-point. Since there is no representation of E_8 whose principal isotropy group is not abelian, this is a contradiction.

9. Proof of Theorem 9

Without loss of generality we may assume that H' is normal in H_0 and the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 is not satisfied. By Lemma 7.1 we may assume that G is simple. Hence (G, H') is one of the pairs that are listed in Theorem 8.1. If (G, H') is one of the pairs

$$(E_6, Spin(8)), (F_4, Spin(8)), (Spin(10), SU(4)), (Spin(9), G_2), or (Spin(8), G_2)$$

we pass to the subactions of $F_4 \subset E_6$, $Spin(8) \subset F_4$, $Spin(9) \subset Spin(10)$, $Spin(8) \subset Spin(9)$ or $Spin(7) \subset Spin(8)$, respectively, whose corresponding principal isotropy groups contain SU(3). For each of the remaining 9 pairs we can make iterated use of Lemma 3.1 to see that G has a fixed-point p.

For a subgroup $\mathsf{K} \subset \mathsf{G}$ we let $\operatorname{Fix}(\mathsf{K})_0$ denote the fixed-point component of K containing p. By the connectedness lemma (Theorem 1.2), the inclusion map $\operatorname{Fix}(\mathsf{G})_0 \to M$ is *h*-connected with $h = 2 \operatorname{Fix}(\mathsf{G})_0 - n + \dim(\mathsf{G}/\mathsf{H}) + 1$. Using $n \ge 235$, we see that $h \ge \left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor$. Therefore it is sufficient to show that $Fix(G)_0$ is a cohomology CROSS.

If (G, H') is one of the pairs $(Spin(9), Spin(7)), (Spin(7), G_2)$, or $(G_2, SU(3))$, then M is fixed-point homogeneous and we are done.

If (G, H') is one of the pairs (Spin(10), SU(3)), or (Spin(8), SU(3)), we choose a central involution $\iota \in G$, which is contained in the kernel of a nontrivial subrepresentation of the the fixed-point representation. It is straightforward to check that the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 is satisfied for the induced action of G on Fix(ι)₀. Thus Fix(ι)₀ is a homotopy CROSS and by the connectedness lemma (Theorem 1.2) the same holds for Fix(G)₀.

The same kind of reasoning works if (G, H') is one of the pairs (Spin(9), SU(3)) or (Spin(7), SU(3)), unless the fixed-point representation is given as the sum of a trivial representation and two equivalent spin representations. In the latter case we argue as follows. For G = Spin(9) we consider a nonstandard $Spin(7) \subset Spin(9)$, and notice that $Fix(Spin(9))_0$ is given by the intersection of two copies of $Fix(Spin(7))_0$ inside $Fix(G_2)_0$. Since $Fix(Spin(7))_0$ has codimension 2 in $Fix(G_2)_0$ we can apply [22, Prop. 7.3] to see that Fix(Spin(9)) is homotopically equivalent to a sphere or a complex projective space. The argument for G = Spin(7) is similar.

For $(G, H') = (F_4, SU(3))$ the nontrivial part of the fixed-point representation is necessarily given by two equivalent 26-dimensional representations. We look at the groups $Spin(8) \subset Spin(9) \subset F_4$. Then $Fix(F_4)_0$ is given by the intersection of two isometric copies of $Fix(Spin(9))_0$ in $Fix(Spin(8))_0$. Since $Fix(Spin(9))_0$ has codimension 2 in $Fix(Spin(8))_0$, we can conclude as before.

In the remaining case of $(G, H') = (E_7, Spin(8))$ the nontrivial part of the fixed-point representation is the irreducible 112-dimensional representation of E_7 . We consider the subgroup $Spin(12) \subset E_7$. There is a central involution $\iota \in Spin(12)$ such that $Fix(\iota)_0$ has codimension 64. The totally geodesic submanifold $Fix(\iota)_0$ is invariant under a Spin(12)-action, and the principal isotropy group of that action is a Spin(8) block. By Theorem 5.1 $Fix(\iota)_0$ is homotopically equivalent to a CROSS, and, by the connectedness lemma, the same holds for $Fix(E_7)$.

10. Positively curved manifolds with large symmetry degree

Theorem 1 will be proved as a consequence of the following theorem.

THEOREM 10.1. Let (M, g) be a simply connected Riemannian manifold of positive sectional curvature. Let G be a connected Lie group acting almost effectively and isometrically on (M^n, g) . Suppose dim $(H) \ge \max\{\frac{\dim(G)-4}{2}, 2\}$ holds for a principal isotropy group H. Then one of the following holds:

a) M is tangentially homotopically equivalent to \mathbb{S}^n , $\mathbb{CP}^{n/2}$ or $\mathbb{HP}^{n/4}$.

b) M is diffeomorphic to the Cayley plane $\operatorname{Ca}\mathbb{P}^2$.

c) M is isometric to a homogeneous space of positive sectional curvature.

As mentioned before a compact manifold is tangentially homotopically equivalent to \mathbb{S}^n or $\mathbb{HP}^{n/4}$ if and only if it is homeomorphic to \mathbb{S}^n or $\mathbb{HP}^{n/4}$, $n \neq 3$.

Proof. We argue by induction on $\dim(G)$. We may assume that G does not act transitively. After replacing G by a finite cover we also may assume that its semisimple part is simply connected and that G is the product of a semisimple group and a torus. The proof is divided into six cases. In each case we will assume that the assumptions of the preceding cases are not satisfied.

Case 1. There is a decomposition $G = L_1 \times L_2$ with $\dim(L_i) > 0$, and the image of the projection $\operatorname{pr}_1 \colon H \to L_1$ has dimension at most $\frac{\dim(L_1)-4}{2}$.

Put $H_2 := H \cap L_2$. Notice that $\dim(H_2) \ge \frac{\dim(L_2)}{2}$. This actually implies $\dim(H_2) \ge 2$ and the theorem follows by applying the induction hypothesis to the subaction of L_2 on M.

Case 2. H contains a simple subgroup H' of rank ≥ 2 .

We may assume that H' is normal in H₀. By Lemma 7.1, H' is contained in a simple normal subgroup L₁ of G. We write $G = L_1 \times L_2$ and let H₁ denote the projection of H onto the first factor. Clearly we may assume that the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 is not satisfied for the subaction of L₁ on *M*. By Theorem 8.1, (L₁, H') is one of the pairs listed there. Combining dim(H₁) $\geq \frac{\dim(L_1)-4}{2}$ with the fact that, by Lemma 3.4, the isotropy representation of L₁/H₁ is spherical, gives that (L₁, H') is one of the pairs (F₄, Spin(8)), (Spin(8), G₂), (Spin(7), SU(3)) (Spin(9), Spin(7)), (Spin(7), G₂) or (G₂, SU(3)). In the last three cases the manifold is fixed-point homogeneous. The first two cases are dealt with in Lemma 10.2 below. Thus we may assume (L₁, H') = (Spin(7), SU(3)). By Lemma 3.1 there is an isotropy group $K \subset G$ corresponding to face such that L₁ \cap K contains the exceptional Lie group G₂. It is then straightforward to check that the projection of K₀ to L₁ equals G₂. Because of K/H $\cong S^6$ the identity component of H₁ equals H' \cong SU(3). But then dim(H₁) = 8 < $\frac{\dim(L_1)-4}{2}$ — a contradiction, as we are not in Case 1.

Case 3. G has a simple factor L_1 which is not isomorphic to Sp(2), SU(3) or S^3 .

We write $G = L_1 \times L_2$. Because of Case 1 the projection H_1 of H_0 to the first factor has dimension $\geq \frac{\dim(L_1)-4}{2}$. By Case 2, H contains no simple

subgroups of rank ≥ 2 . Combining this with the fact that the isotropy representation of L_1/H_1 is spherical, we see that L_1/H_1 is given by $Sp(3)/Sp(1)^3$ or $SU(4)/SU(2)^2 \cong SO(6)/SO(4)$. In particular, $\dim(H_1) = \frac{\dim(L_1)-3}{2}$ and $\dim(H \cap L_2) \geq \frac{\dim(L_2)-1}{2}$.

If dim(L₂) > 3, then the theorem follows by application of the induction hypothesis to the subaction of L₂. If dim(L₂) = 3, then M is fixed-point homogeneous with respect to $H \cap L_2$. Thus we may assume that L₂ is abelian, and consequently $H_1 \subset H_0$. Because of $L_1/H_1 \cong Sp(3)/Sp(1)^3$ or SO(6)/SO(4)we can either apply Lemma 10.2 from below or Theorem 5.1.

Case 4. The isotropy representation of G/H contains a four-dimensional irreducible subrepresentation.

Because of the previous case any simple normal subgroup of G is isomorphic to SU(3), Sp(2) or S³. By the isotropy lemma (Lemma 5), there is an isotropy group K corresponding to a face such that $K/H \cong S^4, S^5, S^7$. Hence K contains a unique simple normal subgroup K' of rank ≥ 2 . We may assume that K' is not normal in G because otherwise M is fixed-point homogeneous. Hence we can find a decomposition $G = L_1 \times L_2 \times L_3$ with L_i being simple such that K' projects nontrivially to L_i , i = 1, 2. Clearly $L_1 \cong L_2 \cong K'$. Since K' and K₀ project to the same subgroup of $L_1 \times L_2$, we see that the projection of H to $L_1 \times L_2$ has dimension at most dim $(K') - 4 = \frac{\dim(L_1 \times L_2) - 8}{2}$ — a contradiction, as we are not in Case 1.

Case 5. G has a simple normal subgroup L_1 of rank ≥ 2 .

We write $G = L_1 \times L_2$, and let H_1 denote the projection of H to L_1 . Then $L_1 \cong SU(3)$ or Sp(2), and the isotropy representation of L_1/H_1 decomposes into 1-, 2- and 3-dimensional subrepresentations. From this it is easy to deduce $\dim(H_1) \leq \frac{\dim(L_1)-4}{2}$. Since we are not in Case 1, $L_2 = 1$. But then $G/H \cong SO(5)/SO(3)$ or $SU(3)/T^2$ and we can either apply Theorem 5.1 or Lemma 10.2.

Case 6. G has no simple normal subgroup L_1 of rank ≥ 2 .

Here we treat a special case first. Suppose H_0 contains a nontrivial connected simple normal subgroup H'. Let L_1 be the smallest normal subgroup of G containing H'. We write $G = L_1 \times L_2$. Clearly $L_1 \cong (S^3)^i$ for some $i \ge 2$, and H' is given by the diagonal ΔS^3 in L_1 . Furthermore the projection of H_0 to L_1 is also given by H'. Because of Case 1 we may assume $i \le 3$. If we apply the isotropy lemma to the action of L_1 , we see that there must be an isotropy group $K \subset L_1$ corresponding to a face of the orbit space such that K/H is a sphere of dimension ≥ 3 . This implies $K_0 \cong (S^3)^2$, K contains a normal subgroup of G, and M is fixed-point homogeneous with respect to the subaction of this subgroup.

Hence we may assume that H has an abelian identity component. Let G_s denote the semisimple part of G. It is easy to see that $\dim(H) \ge \operatorname{rank}(G_s)$. Since H projects with finite kernel to a subgroup of G_s , it follows that M is fixed-point homogeneous with respect to the subaction of a suitable $S^1 \subset H_0$.

LEMMA 10.2. Suppose the simple Lie group G acts isometrically and not transitively on a simply connected positively curved manifold M with principal isotropy group H. If $(G, H_0) \in \{(Spin(8), G_2), (F_4, Spin(8)), (Sp(3), Sp(1)^3), (SU(3), T^2)\},$ then M is diffeomorphic to \mathbb{S}^n or $Ca\mathbb{P}^2$.

Proof. First we consider the case of cohomogeneity one. Then there are two singular orbits. In the cases of $G = F_4$, SU(3), Sp(3) we can use the isotropy lemma for the horizontal geodesic to see that at the two singular orbits two different subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H have to degenerate. This in fact determines the picture of the sphere. In the case of G = Spin(8) there are two possibilities left. Either the manifold is \mathbb{S}^{15} or $\mathbb{S}^7 \times \mathbb{S}^8$ endowed with a cohomogeneity one action of Spin(8). In the latter case the fixed-point set of $SU(3) \subset G_2$ is diffeomorphic to $\mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^2$, which is clearly impossible.

Suppose now that the cohomogeneity is ≥ 2 . Then we can employ Lemma 3.1 twice in order to guarantee a fixed-point of G. Our assumptions on the principal isotropy group determines the isotropy representation of G, and it is straightforward to check that $\dim(M/G) - \dim(\operatorname{Fix}(G)) = 2$. In other words, M has fixed-point cohomogeneity one in the sense of Grove and Kim. By [10], M is diffeomorphic to a rank one symmetric space.

Proof of Theorem 1. Put $G = \operatorname{Iso}(M, g)_0$, and let H be the principal isotropy group of the action. We may assume $\dim(M/G) > 0$. Since $\dim(G) \ge 2n-6$ it follows that $\dim(H) \ge \dim(G) - n + 1 \ge \frac{\dim(G)-4}{2}$. Thus we can apply Theorem 10.1, unless possibly $n \le 6$. There is nothing to prove for $n \le 3$, and we can apply [14] for n = 4. Thus we may assume n = 5, 6. If $\dim(M/L) > 1$, then $\dim(H) \ge n-4$, and it is easy to see that M is fixed-point homogeneous. If $\dim(M/L) = 1$, then we can apply [17].

11. Group actions with nontrivial principal isotropy groups

In this section no curvature assumptions are required. It will also be useful to allow M to be a noncompact manifold. The main purpose of this section is to prove Theorem 6. Before we start to establish the necessary lemmas for the proof, we draw some consequences. For a connected compact Lie group H_0 we put

 $\operatorname{nof}(H_0) := \operatorname{dim}(C) + \operatorname{number}$ of factors of H_0/C ,

where C denotes the center of H_0 .

BURKHARD WILKING

COROLLARY 11.1. Suppose that a connected compact Lie group G acts smoothly on a simply connected manifold M with principal isotropy group H. Let f denote the number of faces of M/G.

- a) If $2f < nof(H_0)$, then there is a connected normal subgroup $H' \subset H$ with $nof(H') \ge nof(H) 2f$ and an equivariant smooth map $M \to G/N(H')_0$.
- b) If $f < \dim(\mathsf{C})$, where C denotes the center of H_0 , then there is a subgroup C' of dimension $\dim(\mathsf{C})' \ge \dim(\mathsf{C}) 1$ and an equivariant smooth map $M \to \mathsf{G}/N(\mathsf{C}')_0$.

Proof of Corollary 11.1. We use the notation of Theorem 6. We can choose the points p_1, \ldots, p_f such that they correspond to generic points on the different faces. If K_i denotes the isotropy group of p_i , then $\mathsf{K}_i/\mathsf{H} \cong \mathbb{S}^{n_i}$. Furthermore $n_i > 0$ by Lemma 11.4 from below. a) The kernel of the slice representation of K_1 has at least $\operatorname{nof}(\mathsf{H}) - 2$ factors. Let H' be the identity component of the intersection of all the kernels of the slice representations of $\mathsf{K}_1, \ldots, \mathsf{K}_f$. Then H' is a normal subgroup of H and $\operatorname{nof}(\mathsf{H}') \ge \operatorname{nof}(\mathsf{H}) - 2f$. Furthermore using the fact that K_i/H is connected it is easy to deduce that K_i is contained in the normalizer of H' . By Theorem 6 there is an equivariant map $M \to \mathsf{G}/N(\mathsf{H}')_0$. b) Since the center of the identity component of the slice representation of K_i has dimension at least $\dim(\mathsf{C}) - 1$, one can prove b) analogously to a).

The following result can be found in [12] up to small modifications. In fact Theorem 6 may be viewed as its generalization.

PROPOSITION 11.2. Let G be a connected compact Lie group acting smoothly on a manifold M with principal isotropy group H. Let B be a component of Fix(H) projecting surjectively onto the orbit space. Consider the subgroup N(H)' of the normalizer leaving B invariant. Suppose K is a compact subgroup of G containing N(H)' as well as all isotropy groups of points in B. Then there is an equivariant map $M \to G/K$.

Since the proof is essentially contained in [12], we only sketch it here. We first show that $N := \mathsf{K} \star B$ is a smooth submanifold of M. In fact we show that for $p \in B$ a neighborhood of the orbit $\mathsf{K} \star p$ in $\mathsf{K} \star B$ is via the exponential map (of an invariant metric) diffeomorphic to the vectorbundle over $\mathsf{K} \star p$ given by the restriction of the normal bundle of $\mathsf{G} \star p$ in M. Once one knows that N is a submanifold one can consider the smooth map $f : \mathsf{G} \times N \to M$, $(g, p) \mapsto g \star p$. It is easy to see that f has full rank and that the fibers of f are given by the orbits of the diagonal action of K on $\mathsf{G} \times N$. Thus one gets a diffeomorphism of G -manifolds $\overline{f} : \mathsf{G} \times_{\mathsf{K}} N \to M$ and hence the above result.

PROPOSITION 11.3. Suppose a compact Lie group G acts smoothly and effectively on a manifold M with nontrivial principal isotropy group H. If the orbit space has no boundary, then there is a smooth G-equivariant map $M \rightarrow G/N(H)$, where N(H) denotes the normalizer of H.

Proof. By Proposition 11.2 it suffices to prove that for each isotropy group K of a point $p \in M$ the kernel of the slice representation of K is isomorphic to the principal isotropy group. Suppose K is a counterexample. Then the isotropy representation of K/H is nontrivial. As usual the slice representation induces an action on the normal sphere of the orbit $G \star p$. Application of the isotropy lemma to this linear action gives that the orbit space $\nu_p(G \star p)/K$ has boundary. Hence the orbit $G \star p$ corresponds to a boundary point of the orbit space M/G — a contradiction.

LEMMA 11.4. Suppose G is a connected Lie group acting on a simply connected manifold M with principal isotropy group H.

- a) Suppose that K is an isotropy group such that the identity component H_0 of H lies in the kernel of the slice representation of K. Then K is contained in the identity component $N(H_0)_0$ of the normalizer $N(H_0)$ of H_0 .
- b) There is no isotropy group K with dim(K) = dim(H) corresponding to a face of the orbit space.

Notice that the lemma says in particular that $H \subset N(H_0)_0$.

Proof. We first want to reduce the problem to the special case that all isotropy groups are of the form described in a). Suppose that K is an isotropy group whose slice representation has not a kernel of dimension $\dim(H_0)$. Clearly $\dim(K) - \dim(H) \ge 2$ and thus the set of orbits whose isotropy groups contain K has codimension at least 3 in M. Thus we may remove all of these orbits from M without changing the fact that M is simply connected.

a) Let M' be a component of $Fix(H_0)$ containing a point with isotropy group H. By the previous reduction step we may assume that H_0 is a normal subgroup of any isotropy group of $p \in M'$. By Proposition 11.2 there is an equivariant smooth map $M \to G/N(H_0)$. This map is necessarily a fiber bundle and since M is simply connected, there is an equivariant smooth map $f: M \to G/N(H_0)_0$, too. Since M' is a fiber of f, all isotropy groups of points in M' are contained in $N(H_0)_0$.

b) We keep the notation. Notice that the principal isotropy group of the action of $G' := N(H_0)_0/H_0$ on M' has a trivial identity component. We do not know whether M' is simply connected. But since the normal bundle of the fiber M' is trivial, M' is orientable. Suppose now that there is a finite

isotropy group $\mathsf{K}' \subset \mathsf{G}'$ corresponding to a face of the orbit space. Let $\iota \in \mathsf{K}'$ be an element that is not in the kernel of the slice representation ρ . Notice that $\rho(\iota)$ has determinant -1. Using the fact that K' is finite and that Ad_{ι} has determinant one we see that ι switches the orientation of M'. On the other hand ι is contained in the connected group G' — a contradiction.

LEMMA 11.5. Suppose that a connected compact Lie group G acts smoothly on a simply connected manifold M. Let M' denote the G-manifold that is obtained from M by removing all orbits corresponding to a collection of faces of M/G. Let $p \in M'$. Then there is no normal subgroup $\Pi \subsetneq \pi_1(M')$ containing the image of the natural map $\pi_1(G \star p) \to \pi_1(M')$.

Proof. We argue by induction on the number of faces which have been removed. Let $N \subset M$ denote the G-manifold that is obtained from M by removing all orbits from M which correspond to orbit types on the boundary of M/G but not to faces of M/G. By Lemma 11.4 b) $M \setminus N$ has codimension 3 in M and thus N is simply connected. We may assume that N = M. Then each face F of M/G is a manifold, and we can find in each face a subset F' of codimension 1 such that $F \setminus F'$ is contractible. Clearly we can remove all orbits in F' from M and obtain a simply connected G-manifold. In other words we may assume that all faces of M/G are contractible manifolds. Let $\Pi \subset \pi_1(M')$ be a normal subgroup containing the image of $\pi_1(\mathsf{G} \star p) \to \pi_1(M')$. Clearly we may assume that $\mathsf{G} \star p$ is a principal orbit. Choose one face $F \subset M/\mathsf{G}$ which has been removed, and consider a tubular neighborhood U of the inverse image of this face. Notice that the fundamental groups of U and $U \cap M'$ are contained in the image of the fundamental group of an orbit. Using van Kampen's theorem it is easy to see that the epimorphism $\pi_1(M') \to \pi_1(M')/\Pi$ induces an epimorphism $\pi_1(M' \cup U) \to \pi_1(M')/\Pi$. By the induction hypothesis $\Pi = \pi_1(M').$

LEMMA 11.6. Suppose that a connected compact Lie group G acts smoothly on a simply connected manifold M. Let K be an isotropy group contained in the normalizer N(H) of H. Then $K \subset N(H)_0 \cdot H$.

Proof. Let M' be the manifold that is obtained from M by removing all orbits with isotropy group K such that K is not contained in N(H). Since the isotropy representation of K/H is nontrivial, the isotropy lemma implies that all these orbits correspond to boundary orbits of M/G. Thus the hypothesis of Lemma 11.5 is satisfied for M'. Applying Proposition 11.2 gives an equivariant map $f: M' \to G/N(H)$. Notice that the image F of the natural map $\pi_1(G/N(H)_0 \cdot H) \to \pi_1(G/N(H))$ is normal in $\pi_1(G/N(H))$. Furthermore F contains the image of $\pi_1(f_{|G \star p}) : \pi_1(G \star p) \to \pi_1(G/N(H))$ for any point $p \in M'$. Thus we can apply Lemma 11.5 to see that the image of $\pi_1(f): \pi_1(M') \to \pi_1(\mathsf{G}/\mathsf{N}(\mathsf{H}))$ is contained in F as well. Consequently we can lift f to an equivariant map $\tilde{f}: M' \to \mathsf{G}/\mathsf{N}(\mathsf{H})_0 \cdot \mathsf{H}$. Thus the isotropy group K is contained in $\mathsf{N}(\mathsf{H})_0 \cdot \mathsf{H}$.

We are now ready to introduce some type of Weyl group ${\sf W}$ for orbit spaces with boundary.

PROPOSITION 11.7. Suppose that a connected compact Lie group G acts smoothly on a simply connected manifold M with principal isotropy group H. Let $M_{\rm pr}$ denote the set of all principal orbits, $B_{\rm pr} \subset M_{\rm pr}$ be a fixed-point component of H, and let $B \subset M$ be the component of $\operatorname{Fix}(H) \subset M$ containing $B_{\rm pr}$.

- a) The group $L_0 = \{g \in N(H)/H \mid g \star b \in B_{pr} \text{ for } b \in B_{pr}\}$ is connected.
- b) The component group $W = L/L_0$ of

 $\mathsf{L} := \left\{ g \in N(\mathsf{H})/\mathsf{H} \mid g \star b \in B \text{ for } b \in B \right\}$

is generated by at most k involutions, where k is the number of faces of M/G whose inverse images in B have codimension 1. The orbit spaces B/L and M/G are isometric.

Proof. a) Let \tilde{M} be the manifold that is obtained from M by removing all boundary orbits, and let \tilde{B} be the fixed-point component of H containing $B_{\rm pr}$. Clearly $B_{\rm pr}$ is dense in \tilde{B} . Thus $L_0 = \{g \in N({\sf H})/{\sf H} \mid g \star b \in \tilde{B} \text{ for } b \in \tilde{B}\}$. By Proposition 11.3, there is an equivariant map $f: \tilde{M} \to {\sf G}/N({\sf H})$. As before we can employ Lemma 11.5 to guarantee an equivariant lift $\tilde{f}: \tilde{M} \to {\sf G}/N({\sf H})_0 \cdot {\sf H}$. Since \tilde{B} is a fiber of \tilde{f} , the subgroup of ${\sf G}$ which leaves \tilde{B} invariant is given by $N({\sf H})_0 \cdot {\sf H}$. In other words L_0 is connected. b) Recall that $B/{\sf L}$ is isometric to $M/{\sf G}$; see [12]. Let M' be the manifold that is obtained from M by removing all orbits for which the inverse image of the corresponding orbit type in B has codimension at least two. If we put $B' := B \cap M'$, then

$$\mathsf{L} = \{ g \in N(\mathsf{H}) / \mathsf{H} \mid g \star b \in B' \text{ for all } b \in B' \}.$$

Notice that $W := L/L_0$ acts simply transitively on the components of $B' \cap M_{\rm pr}$. On the other hand $B' \cap M_{\rm pr}$ consists of isometric copies of $B_{\rm pr}$ which are separated by orbit types of codimension 1 in B' (and in M/G). For each such face there is an involution which switches two components of $B' \cap M_{\rm pr}$. Clearly the subgroup of L generated by these involutions also acts transitively on the components of $B' \cap M_{\rm pr}$ and hence the groups coincide. Furthermore one can generate the group W by the involutions corresponding to the k boundary components of $\bar{B}_{\rm pr} \cap B'$.

Proof of Theorem 6. If the orbit space has no boundary, the theorem follows from Proposition 11.3. Let F_1, \ldots, F_f denote the faces of M/G. We

may assume $\mathsf{G} \star p_i \in F_i$ and also that $\mathsf{G} \star p_i$ corresponds to a generic point of F_i . In fact otherwise we just replace p_i by another point with smaller isotropy group. Let K_i be the isotropy group of p_i . Let B be the component of Fix(H) containing B_{pr} . The component group of

$$\mathsf{L} := \left\{ g \in N(\mathsf{H}) / \mathsf{H} \mid g \star b \in B \text{ for all } b \in B \right\}$$

is generated by involutions contained in $N(\mathsf{H}) \cap \mathsf{K}_i/\mathsf{H}$, $i = 1, \ldots, f$. Therefore K contains the group

$$N(\mathsf{H})' = \{ g \in N(\mathsf{H}) \mid g \star b \in B \text{ for all } b \in B \}.$$

By Proposition 11.2, it remains to verify that K contains all isotropy groups of points in B. Because of $N(\mathsf{H}') \subset \mathsf{K}$ it suffices to prove that K contains one isotropy group of each orbit type. By assumption this holds for the isotropy groups corresponding to faces.

Let P be an isotropy group of a point $p \in B$. We have to show $P \subset K$. We may assume that P does not correspond to a face. If P is contained in the normalizer $N(\mathsf{H})$, then Lemma 11.6 gives $\mathsf{P} \subset \mathsf{N}(\mathsf{H})_0 \cdot \mathsf{H} \subset \mathsf{K}$. So we may assume that P is not contained in N(H). Suppose, on the contrary, that P is not contained in K either. We may assume that P is a minimal counterexample. Consider the nontrivial part of the slice representation, i.e., the action on the normal sphere $\mathbb{S}^{n'}$ at p of the orbit type of P in M. As P is a minimal counterexample, all isotropy groups in $\mathbb{S}^{n'}$ which contain the principal isotropy group H are contained in K. Furthermore K also contains the normalizer of H in P, as this group is a subgroup of N(H)'. By Proposition 11.2 there is an equivariant map $\mathbb{S}^{n'} \to \mathsf{P}_0/\mathsf{K} \cap \mathsf{P}_0$. Since the action of P_0 on $\mathbb{S}^{n'}$ is not transitive, a simple topological results yields $\mathsf{K} \cap \mathsf{P}_0 = \mathsf{P}_0$. Because of $\mathsf{P} \not\subset N(\mathsf{H})$ the orbit $G \star p$ corresponds to a boundary point of the orbit space and dim(P) > dim(H). Applying the soul orbit theorem to the slice representation of P yields the existence of an isotropy group $\mathsf{P}' \subsetneq \mathsf{P}$ such that P/P' is connected. Using $\mathsf{P}_0 \subset \mathsf{K}$, we see that P' is not contained in K either — a contradiction as P is a minimal counterexample.

Proposition 11.7 also allows us to prove the lemma already used in the proof of the stability theorem.

LEMMA 11.8. Let (G_d, u) be one of the pairs (SO(d), 1), (SU(d), 2) or (Sp(d), 4). Assume that G_d acts on a simply connected manifold M. Suppose also the principal isotropy group H of the action contains a $k \times k$ block B_k with $k \ge 2$, and $k \ge 3$ if u = 1, 2. Choose k maximal. Let K be an isotropy group such that H is a principal isotropy group of the slice representation of K. Then B_k is normal in $N(H) \cap K$.

Proof. Consider a point with isotropy group H and the fixed-point component B of H containing that point. We consider again the subgroup N(H)'

of $N(\mathsf{H})$ which leaves this component invariant. It suffices to prove that B_k is normal in $N(\mathsf{H})'$.

By Lemma 2.7, B_k is a normal subgroup of H_0 . Because of $H \subset N(H_0)_0$ (see Lemma 11.4) we deduce B_k is normal in $N(H_0)_0 \supset H$.

The action of L := N(H)'/H on B has a trivial principal isotropy group. By Proposition 11.7, the component group L/L_0 is generated by involutions that correspond to faces of $B/L = M/G_d$ whose inverse image in B have codimension 1. We choose a generic point on the inverse images of such a face. Then the isotropy group K' of that point with respect to the L-action is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_2 . We also consider the isotropy group \bar{K} with respect to the G_d -action. Since \bar{K}/H is a sphere of positive dimension, it is easy to see that B_k is normal in $N(H) \cap K'$. Thus it follows that the component of L represented by K' normalizes B_k . From Proposition 11.7 we deduce that B_k is normal in N(H)'.

12. On the number of factors of principal isotropy groups

First we we have the following corollary from the previous section.

COROLLARY 12.1. Let G be a compact connected Lie group acting with finite kernel on a simply connected compact positively curved manifold, and let H denote its principal isotropy group.

- a) Then $nof(pr_1(H_0)) \le 2f \le 2k+2$, where f denotes the number of faces of the orbit space M/G.
- b) If C denotes the center of H_0 , then dim(C) $\leq f \leq k+1$.

In fact if this were false we could use Corollary 11.1 to see that there are a nontrivial connected subgroup $\mathsf{H}' \subset \mathsf{H}$ and an equivariant map $f: M \to \mathsf{G}/\mathsf{N}(\mathsf{H}')$. By Lemma 5 this implies that any isotropy representation of G/H is equivalent to a subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of $\mathsf{N}(\mathsf{H}')/\mathsf{H}$. But this would clearly imply that H' is in the kernel of the action.

It is easy to see that both estimates are sharp.

COROLLARY 12.2. If E_8 acts nontrivially and isometrically on a positively curved manifold M, then $\dim(M) \ge 247$.

Notice that the lower bound is optimal as there is an action of E_8 on \mathbb{S}^{247} induced by the adjoint representation.

Proof of Corollary 12.2. By Proposition 8.9 the principal isotropy group of the action has an abelian identity component H_0 . Combining this with Corollary 12.1 b) gives the fact that the cohomogeneity k of the action is bounded below by dim $(H_0) - 1$. Hence dim $(M) \ge \dim(E_8) - 1 = 247$. Recall that by Theorem 7 all faces of a positively curved compact orbit space intersect, unless the orbit space is given by a simplex. In view of this the following corollary is very useful.

COROLLARY 12.3. Let G be a connected Lie group acting on a compact positively curved manifold. Suppose there is a point $p \in M$ whose orbit is contained in the intersection of all faces of M/G. Let K be the isotropy group of p, and let $H \subset K$ be a principal isotropy group. Then any nontrivial irreducible subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H is isomorphic to a subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of K/H.

Proof. Let *B* be a component of Fix(H) containing *p*. Let N(H)' be the subgroup of N(H) leaving *B* invariant. Using Proposition 11.7 we see that $N(H)' \cap K$ intersects each connected component of N(H)'. Let c(t) be a generic horizontal geodesic in *B*; i.e., c(t) is either a generic point or a point corresponding to a codimension 1 orbit type. Given a nontrivial irreducible subrepresentation of the isotropy representation of G/H we can find a *t* such that this representation is equivalent to a subrepresentation the isotropy representation of $K_{c(t)}/H$.

Since $B/N(\mathsf{H})'$ is isometric to M/G and $\mathsf{G} \star p$ is contained in all faces, we can find an $h \in N(\mathsf{H})'$ with $h\mathsf{K}_{c(t)}h^{-1} \subset \mathsf{K}$. We may assume $h \in N(\mathsf{H})_0$ as K intersects all components of $N(\mathsf{H})'$. But then the isotropy representations of $\mathsf{K}_{c(t)}/\mathsf{H}$ and $h\mathsf{K}_{c(t)}h^{-1}/\mathsf{H}$ are isomorphic.

LEMMA 12.4. Let G be a connected Lie group containing E_8 as a normal subgroup. Suppose that G acts faithfully and isometrically on a positively curved manifold M. Then dim $(M/G) \ge 3$ and strict inequality holds if dim $(M) \ne 247$ or $G \ne E_8$.

Proof. Put $k := \dim(M/\mathsf{G})$. We argue by induction on $\dim(M)$. If the subaction of E_8 has a fixed-point p, then the induction hypothesis implies that the slice representation of the isotropy group of $\mathsf{K} \subset \mathsf{G}$ at p induces an action on the sphere of cohomogeneity ≥ 3 . Thus we have that $\dim(M/\mathsf{G}) \geq 4$.

We can write $G = E_8 \times G'$. Consider next the case of $G' \neq \{1\}$. If G' acts with only one orbit type, then M/G' is a positively curved manifold endowed with an isometric action of E_8 . Furthermore as a consequence of the rank lemma (Proposition 1.4) combined with the isotropy lemma (Lemma 5) G' necessarily has rank 1 and dim(M/G') is even. Thus the statement follows from the induction hypothesis.

If G' does not act with one orbit type, we can argue as follows. Choose an isotropy group $\mathsf{K}' \subset \mathsf{G}'$ that is not principal. Let $N(\mathsf{K}')$ be the normalizer of K' in G' . On a component M' of $\operatorname{Fix}(\mathsf{K}')$ the group $\mathsf{E}_8 \times N(\mathsf{K}')_0/\mathsf{K}'$ acts, and

the cohomogeneity of the action is strictly smaller than $\dim(M/\mathsf{G})$. Again the statement follows from the induction hypothesis.

In other words it suffices to prove the lemma for $G = E_8$. By Corollary 12.2 dim $(M) \ge 247$. Suppose that dim $(M/G) \le 3$. Then dim $(H) = 248 + \dim(M/G) - \dim(M) \le 4$, and strict inequality holds if dim(M) > 247 or dim $(M/G) \le 2$. The statement now follows from the rank lemma (Proposition 1.4).

13. Proof of Theorem 2

We first want to prove a special case for those readers who only want to get a rough idea of the line of arguments and are not interested in the details involved.

PROPOSITION 13.1. Let M be a simply connected positively curved manifold with

$$\operatorname{symrank}(M,g) > 9(\operatorname{cohom}(M,g)+1).$$

Then M is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space.

Proof. Put $L = Iso(M, g)_0$. Let P denote the principal isotropy group of L. By the rank lemma (Proposition 1.4) we have rank(P) > 8(dim(M/L)+1). By Corollary 12.1, P₀ can be decomposed into at most 2(dim(M/L)+1) factors. Combining both statements we see that P₀ contains a simple normal subgroup H' of rank ≥ 5. Because of Lemma 7.1, H' is contained in a simple normal subgroup G ⊂ L. Using Propositions 7.3 and 7.4 we see that the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 is satisfied for the subaction of G on M. Thus the proposition follows.

Proof of Theorem 2. In order to establish the theorem by induction it is useful to prove a slightly stronger statement. We introduce notation and say that a nontrivial isometric action of G on a positively curved manifold Mis good if G is a simple, connected Lie group, the principal isotropy group H contains a simple subgroup H' of rank at least 2 and either the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 is satisfied for the action of G or $G/H' \cong Spin(9)/Spin(7) \cong S^{15}$.

Consider a connected subgroup $L \subset Iso(M, g)$ with

$$\operatorname{rank}(\mathsf{L}) > 3(\dim(M/\mathsf{L}) + 1).$$

We want to prove by induction on $k := \dim(M/\mathsf{L}) > 0$ that for a suitable simple normal subgroup $\mathsf{G} \subset \mathsf{L}$ the subaction of G on M is good. The theorem then follows by application of this statement to $\mathsf{L} = \operatorname{Iso}(M, g)_0$. In case $\mathsf{G}/\mathsf{H} \cong \mathbb{S}^{15}$ it is easy to see that M is fixed-point homogeneous with respect to the subaction of G . For a proof of the above statement it also useful to drop the hypothesis $\pi_1(M) = 1$. The classification of positively curved homogeneous spaces implies that for a transitive almost faithful action of a Lie group C on a positively curved manifold M there is a good subaction of a simple normal subgroup $G \subset C$, provided that rank(C) ≥ 4 and M is not locally isometric to $F_4/Spin(8)$, $SU(5)/S^1Sp(2)$ or $Ca\mathbb{P}^2$. We will use this implicitly in the proof.

Let P denote the principal isotropy group of the action of L. By the rank lemma rank(P) > 2k + 2. Thus P contains a simple normal subgroup H' of rank ≥ 2 by Corollary 12.1. By Lemma 7.1, H' is contained in a simple normal subgroup $G \subset L$. Clearly we may assume that the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 is not satisfied for the subaction of G and also $(G, H') \neq (\text{Spin}(9), \text{Spin}(7))$. If possible, we choose H' such that $G = F_4$. For any subgroup $G' \subset L$ we let $C(G')_0$ denote the identity component of the centralizer of G' in L.

By Theorem 10.1 (G, H') is one of the pairs listed there. If (G, H') is one of the pairs (G₂, SU(3)) or (Spin(7), G₂), then there is an isotropy group $K \subset L$ corresponding to a face of the orbit space such that $G \subset K$. Notice that $C(G)_0$ acts almost faithfully on a component M' of Fix(G) with cohomogeneity k - 1. Because rank($C(G)_0$) = rank(L) - rank(G) the induction hypothesis implies that there is a good subaction of a simple normal subgroup $\bar{G} \subset C(G_0)$ on M'. Consider a principal isotropy group \bar{H} of the \bar{G} -action in M'. The slice representation of \bar{H} in M commutes with the action of G. Hence the subaction of \bar{G} on M is good as well.

Because $k \ge 1$, we have rank(L) ≥ 7 . With this in mind it is actually easy to see that $k \ge 2$. Hence rank(L) ≥ 10 .

If (G, H') is one of the pairs $(F_4, Spin(8))$, (Spin(10), SU(4)) or $(Spin(8), G_2)$, then it follows from Lemma 3.1 that there is an isotropy group $K \subset L$ with $G \subset K$ and K corresponds to a codimension 2 orbit type of the orbit space M/L. We consider the action of $C(G)_0$ on the component M' of Fix(G). Clearly the cohomogeneity of this action is k-2, $rank(C(G)_0) \ge rank(L) - 5$, and it is easy to see that the kernel of this action can be at most one dimensional. It is also easy to rule out the possibility that M' is one of the exceptional homogeneous spaces of positive curvature. Thus the induction hypothesis implies that there is a good subaction of a simple normal subgroup $\overline{G} \subset C(G)_0$ on M'. As before it follows that the action of \overline{G} on M is good as well.

Consider next the case $(G, H') = (E_7, Spin(8))$ or $(E_6, Spin(8))$. It is easy to deduce that there is an isotropy group $K \subset L$ corresponding to a codimension 2 stratum of the orbit space with $K \cap G = F_4$. The slice representation of K_0 is effectively only a representation of F_4 (of real type). Furthermore K acts with cohomogeneity two on the normal space of the orbit type of K in M. Consider the fixed-point component M' of F_4 . By the previous remark $C(F_4)_0$ acts with finite kernel on M' and cohomogeneity k - 2. Furthermore, $\operatorname{rank}(C(\mathsf{F}_4)_0) = \operatorname{rank}(\mathsf{L}) - 6$. As before the statement follows from the induction hypothesis.

Thus we may assume that (G, H') is one of the pairs $(F_4, SU(3))$, (Spin(10)), SU(3), (Spin(9), SU(3)), (Spin(8), SU(3)) or (Spin(7), SU(3)). Using rank(L) ≥ 10 , it is easy to see that dim $(M/G) \geq 3$. We can find an isotropy group K_f corresponding to a codimension 1 orbit type in M/L such that $K_f \cap G$ contains SU(4) or G_2 . The isotropy representation of $G/(K_f \cap G)$ contains an irreducible subrepresentation of dimension 6 or 7 (of real type), and the orbit type of $K_f \cap G$ is at least two dimensional in M/G. Therefore we can apply Lemma 3.1 once more to see that there is an isotropy group $K \subset L$ corresponding to an orbit type of codimension ≤ 3 in M/L such that $K \cap G$ contains Spin(7). If we restrict the nontrivial part of the slice representation of K to Spin(7)then it is either given by two 8-dimensional representations or by an 8- and a 7-dimensional representation. Hence $C(Spin(7))_0$ acts with cohomogeneity $\leq k-2$ on a component M' of Fix(Spin(7)), and the kernel of the action is at most one dimensional. Because of $\operatorname{rank}(C(\operatorname{Spin}(7))_0) \geq \operatorname{rank}(L) - 4$, the statement can again be deduced from the induction hypothesis.

ADDENDUM TO THEOREM 2. Suppose there is the same hypothesis as in Theorem 2 without the assumption that M is simply connected. Then $\pi_1(M)$ is isomorphic to the fundamental group of a space form of dimension $b \leq 4k+3$.

Proof. By the previous proof there is a good subaction of a simple normal subgroup $G \subset \operatorname{Iso}(M,g)_0$. As before let H denote the principal isotropy group of the G-subaction. If $G/H \cong \mathbb{S}^{15}$, then M is fixed-point homogeneous with respect to the subaction of G. By Grove and Searle the fundamental group is either trivial or \mathbb{Z}_2 . Otherwise the subaction of G satisfies the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1, and it follows that $\pi_1(M)$ is the fundamental group of a *b*-dimensional space form. In order to get the estimate on *b* one combines Theorem 5.1 with the rank lemma (Proposition 1.4).

14. Proof of Corollary 3 and Theorem 4

PROPOSITION 14.1. Let L be a Lie group acting isometrically on a positively curved n-dimensional manifold (M,g) with cohomogeneity k. Suppose also that M is not locally isometric to $F_4/Spin(8)$ and $n \ge 18(k+1)^2$. Then there are a normal subgroup $G \subset L$ and a number $u \in \{1,2,4\}$ such that after possibly replacing G by a cover, $(G, u) \in \{(Sp(d), 4), (SU(d), 2), (SO(d), 1)\}$ with $d \ge \frac{n+1}{u(k+1)}$. Furthermore rank(L) > 3k + 3.

The estimate on d is sharp. For example, there is a cohomogeneity k action of $\operatorname{Sp}(k+1) \times \operatorname{Sp}(d)$ on \mathbb{S}^n with n = 4d(k+1) - 1, $d \ge k+1$. The estimate also implies $\operatorname{symdeg}(M,g) \ge \dim(\mathsf{G}) \ge 2n$.

Of course Corollary 3 follows immediately. In fact combining further with Theorem 6.1 one sees that the principal isotropy group of the subaction of G contains an $l \times l$ block, where $d - l \leq k + 1$. By Theorem 8 c) there is a chain of positively curved manifolds

$$M = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset M_2 \subset$$

with $\dim(M_i) = \dim(M) + hi$ and $h \le 4k + 4$, as was claimed in the introduction.

Proof of Proposition 14.1. We argue by induction on k assuming that L acts almost faithfully and that M is simply connected. The case k = 0 follows from the classification of simply connected positively curved homogeneous manifolds. Let P denote the principal isotropy group of the action of L on M.

$$\dim(\mathsf{L}) = \dim(M) - k + \dim(\mathsf{P})$$
$$\geq 18(k+1)^2 - k$$
$$= \dim(\mathsf{Sp}(3k+2)) + 8k + 8$$

We first want to prove rank(L) > 3k + 2. For $k \neq 2, 3$ this is clear as the Lie group $\mathsf{Sp}(3k + 2)$ has maximal dimension among all compact groups of rank 3k + 2. If E_8 is a normal subgroup of L, then $k \geq 3$ by Lemma 12.4, and because of $\dim(M) \geq 18(k+1)^2 > 247$, Lemma 12.4, implies $k \geq 4$. This takes care of k = 2, 3.

Thus rank(L) $\geq 3k + 3$. By the rank lemma (Proposition 1.4) rank(P) $\geq 2k + 2$, and by Corollary 12.1, the center of P₀ has dimension at most k + 1. Therefore dim(P) $\geq 4(k + 1)$ and

$$\dim(\mathsf{L}) \ge 18(k+1)^2 + 3k + 4 = \dim(\mathsf{Sp}(3k+3)) + 1.$$

As above we deduce $\operatorname{rank}(\mathsf{L}) > \operatorname{rank}(\operatorname{Sp}(3k+3)) = 3k+3$ for $k \neq 2$. In the case of k = 2, one is done as well, because then E_8 cannot be a normal subgroup of L .

From the proof of Theorem 2 we know that there is a simple normal subgroup $G \subset L$ such that $H := P \cap G$ contains a simple normal subgroup H' of rank ≥ 2 . Furthermore, either $G/H \cong \mathbb{S}^{15}$ or the action of G satisfies the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1. If $G/H \cong \mathbb{S}^{15}$, then $M' := \operatorname{Fix}(G)$ has codimension 16, L acts on M' with cohomogeneity k - 1, and the proposition follows from the induction hypothesis.

Otherwise we can choose a number $u \in \{1, 2, 4\}$ such that $(\mathsf{G}, \mathsf{H}', u)$ is one of the triples $(\mathsf{Sp}(h), \mathsf{Sp}(h-r), 4)$, $(\mathsf{SU}(h), \mathsf{SU}(h-r), 2)$ or $(\mathsf{SO}(h), \mathsf{SO}(h-r), 1)$. We first want to consider the special case that the fixed-point set of G is empty. By Theorem 6.1 an h - 1 block of G is contained in an isotropy group $\mathsf{K} \subset \mathsf{L}$. By inspecting the slice representation of K we see that $r \leq k + 1$. Because of Theorem 6.1 the nonexistence of a fixed-point also implies n < urh. Thus $h > \frac{n}{ur} \geq \frac{n}{u(k+1)}$ and we are done. Hence we may assume that G has a fixed-point and $h \leq \frac{n}{u(k+1)}$. Let M' denote the fixed-point set of G. Notice that L acts on M'. The cohomogeneity k' of this action is bounded above by k - r. The codimension of M' is given by urh. Thus we have for the dimension n' of M'

$$n' = n - urh \ge \left(1 - \frac{r}{(k+1)}\right)n$$
$$\ge 18(k+1)(k+1-r)$$
$$\ge 18(k'+1)^2 + 18.$$

Since the induction hypothesis is satisfied, we can find a normal subgroup $G \subset L$ and \bar{u} such that (\bar{G}, \bar{u}) is one of the pairs (Sp(d), 4), (SU(d), 2) or (SO(d), 1)with

$$\begin{aligned} d &> \frac{n'}{\bar{u}(k'+1)} \\ &\ge \left(1 - \frac{r}{(k+1)}\right) \frac{n}{\bar{u}(k'+1)} \\ &= \frac{n}{\bar{u}(k+1)} \cdot \frac{k+1-r}{k'+1} \ge \frac{n}{\bar{u}(k+1)}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof of Theorem 4. Let $\mathsf{L} = \mathrm{Iso}(M, g)_0$. By Proposition 14.1 there are a simple, connected normal subgroup $\bar{\mathsf{G}} \subset \mathsf{L}$ and a number $u \in \{1, 2, 4\}$ such that after possible replacement of $\bar{\mathsf{G}}$ by a cover the following holds. The pair $(\bar{\mathsf{G}}, u)$ is given by one of the following pairs $(\mathsf{Sp}(\bar{d}), u)$, $(\mathsf{SU}(\bar{d}), u)$ or $(\mathsf{SO}(\bar{d}), u)$ with $\bar{d} \geq \frac{n+1}{u(k+1)} > \frac{18}{u}(k+1)$. As mentioned after Proposition 14.1 it is clear that the principal isotropy group contains an $l \times l$ block, and by Theorem 6.1 we see that the principal isotropy group itself is an $l \times l$ block with $l \geq \bar{d} - k - 1 \geq 5$. In the case of $l = \bar{d} - 1$ the manifold would be fixed-point homogeneous and we would be done by [11]. Next we want to define $\mathsf{G} \subset \bar{\mathsf{G}}$.

If $\overline{\mathsf{G}} = \mathsf{Sp}(\overline{d})$ we put $d = \overline{d} - 1$ and $\mathsf{G} := \mathsf{Sp}(d) \subset \overline{\mathsf{G}}$. If $\overline{\mathsf{G}} = \mathsf{SU}(\overline{d})$ we put $d = \left[\frac{\overline{d}-2}{2}\right]$ and $\mathsf{G} := \mathsf{Sp}(d) \subset \mathsf{SU}(\overline{d}-2) \subset \overline{\mathsf{G}}$ and if $\overline{\mathsf{G}} = \mathsf{SO}(\overline{d})$ we put $d := \left[\frac{\overline{d}-3}{4}\right]$ and $\mathsf{G} = \mathsf{Sp}(d) \subset \mathsf{SO}(\overline{d}-3) \subset \overline{\mathsf{G}}$. Using Theorem 6.1 we verify easily that the dimension of the fixed-point set of G is at least 4.

Thus we have proved that there is an action of G = Sp(d) whose principal isotropy group is an $l \times l$ block with $l \ge d/2$ and whose fixed-point set has dimension at least 4. Furthermore $d \ge \frac{n+1}{4(k+1)} - 2$.

By [7, Th. 4], the conclusion of Theorem 4 holds if the fixed-point set of any $l \times l$ block $\mathsf{B}_l \subset \mathsf{G}$ is simply connected. Notice that

$$\operatorname{Fix}(\mathsf{B}_l) = \operatorname{Fix}(\operatorname{diag}(-1, \dots, -1, 1 \dots, 1)),$$

where $D_l := \text{diag}(-1, \ldots, -1, 1, \ldots, 1)$ is the diagonal matrix with precisely lentries equal to -1. Put $M_l := \text{Fix}(D_{d-l})$. Then $M_0 \subset \cdots \subset M_d = M$ is a chain of totally geodesic submanifolds. Furthermore the codimension of M_i in M_{i+1} is independent of i. And M_{i-1} can be realized as the intersection of two isometric copies of M_i in M_{i+1} , $i \leq d-1$. Using the connectedness lemma we see that M_l is simply connected and thus Theorem 4 follows.

Concluding remarks

1. In the proof of Theorem 2 the first crucial requirement is to show that the principal isotropy group of the action of $L := \text{Iso}(M, g)_0$ has a simple subgroup of rank 2. This is no longer true if one only requires symrank $(M, g) \ge$ 3(cohom(M, g) + 1). In fact there is a positively curved cohomogeneity kmanifold M^{8k+7} (a sphere with a deformed metric) whose isometry group has the identity component $(\text{Sp}(1)\text{Sp}(2))^{k+1}$.

2. Theorem 1 as well as Theorem 2 do not remain valid if one relaxes the hypothesis from positive sectional curvature to positive sectional curvature on an open and dense set of points. In fact it was shown in [21] that the projective tangent bundle $P_{\mathbb{C}}T\mathbb{CP}^n$ of \mathbb{CP}^n admits a cohomogeneity 2 metric with positive sectional curvature on an open dense set of points. These manifolds fit in a chain $P_{\mathbb{C}}T\mathbb{CP}^3 \subset P_{\mathbb{C}}T\mathbb{CP}^4 \subset \cdots$ such that each pair satisfies all conclusions of the stability theorem. The limit space is the classifying space $(\mathbb{CP}^\infty)^2$. It would be interesting to know whether this behavior is enforced by the curvature and symmetry properties of the examples.

3. In an earlier version the author gained control of the principal isotropy group of an action of low cohomogeneity on a positively curved manifold Mby a rather different and computational approach. The idea is to combine the condition of positive sectional curvature with the Gauss equations at a principal orbit. Although this approach might be less elegant it actually gives another interesting result. In dimensions above $(30(k + l))^2$ any simply connected cohomogeneity k manifold with positive l^{th} Ricci curvature is tangentially homotopically equivalent to a rank one symmetric space. Recall that a Riemannian manifold is said to have positive l^{th} Ricci curvature if for any unit vector v, the sum of the l smallest eigenvalues of $R(\cdot, v)v$, viewed as an endomorphism of $(v)^{\perp}$, is positive.

4. A result of Straume [18] says that an exotic *n*-sphere which admits a metric with symmetry degree $\geq \frac{3}{2}(n+1)$ is necessarily given by a Brieskorn variety or equivalently bounds a parallelizable manifold. Notice that for $n \geq 15$ the symmetry degree of the manifold in Theorem 1 is necessarily $\geq \frac{3}{2}(n+1)$.

5. It would be interesting to know whether some kind of analogue of Theorem 4 holds for homotopy \mathbb{CP}^n 's or \mathbb{HP}^n 's. In this context the following observation might be a starting point. If (M,g) is a positively curved cohomogeneity k manifold (M,g) of dimension $n \ge 18(k+1)^2$ with the homotopy type of \mathbb{CP}^m one can lift the action of $\mathrm{Iso}(M,g)_0$ on M to an action of a group L on the total space Σ^{2m+1} of the principal S^1 -bundle whose Euler class is a

generator of $H^2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ such that the actions of S^1 and L commute. With the same proof one can show that Σ^{2m+1} satisfies the conclusion of Theorem 4. Thus the action of S^1 on the homotopy sphere Σ^{2m+1} has to commute with a reasonably large, well understood group action of $Sp(d) \subset L$.

6. Up to a small modification Theorem 4 remains valid if one replaces the dimension hypothesis $n \ge 18(k+1)^2$ by the assumption symrank(M,g) > $3 \operatorname{cohom}(M,g) + 3$. More precisely: in that case either the conclusion of Theorem 4 holds or M endowed with the action of $\operatorname{Iso}(M,g)_0$ is equivariantly diffeomorphic to \mathbb{S}^n endowed with a linear action.

WILHELMS UNIVERSITÄT MÜNSTER, MÜNSTER, GERMANY *E-mail address*: wilking@math.uni-muenster.de

References

- S. ALOFF and N. R. WALLACH, An infinite family of 7-manifolds admitting positively curved Riemannian structures, *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* 81 (1975), 93–97.
- [2] L. BÉRARD BERGERY, Sur certaines fibrations d'espaces homogènes riemanniens, Compositio Math. 30 (1975), 43–61.
- [3] _____, Les variétés riemanniennes homogènes simplement connexes de dimension impaire à courbure strictement positive, J. Math. Pure et Appl. 55 (1976), 47–68.
- [4] M. BERGER, Les variétés riemanniennes homogènes normales simplement connexes ont courbure strictment positive, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa 15 (1961), 191–240.
- [5] G. BREDON, Introduction to Compact Transformation Groups, Academic Press, New York (1972).
- [6] E. BRIESKORN, Examples of singular normal complex spaces which are topological manifolds, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 55 (1966), 1395–1397.
- [7] M. DAVIS and W. C. HSIANG, Concordance classes of regular U_n and Sp_n action on homotopy spheres, Ann. of Math. 105 (1977), 325–341.
- [8] M. DAVIS, W. C. HSIANG, and J. W. MORGAN, Concordance classes of regular O(n)-actions on homotopy spheres, *Acta Math.* **144** (1980), 153–221.
- J. H. ESCHENBURG, New examples of manifolds with strictly positive curvature, *Invent. Math.* 66 (1982), 469–480.
- [10] K. GROVE and C. W. KIM, Positively curved manifolds with low fixed-point cohomogeneity, J. Differential Geom. 67 (2004), 1–33.
- K. GROVE and C. SEARLE, Differential topological restrictions by curvature and symmetry, J. Differential Geom. 47 (1997), 530–559.
- [12] _____, Global G-manifold reductions and resolutions, Special issue in memory of Alfred Gray (1939–1998), Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 18 (2000), 437–446.
- [13] K. GROVE, B. WILKING, and W. ZILLER, Positively curved cohomogeneity one manifolds and 3-Sasakian geometry, preprint, 2005, 58 pp.
- [14] W.-Y. HSIANG and B. KLEINER, On the topology of positively curved 4-manifolds with symmetry, J. Differential Geom. 30 (1989), 615–621.
- [15] W.-Y. HSIANG and E. STRAUME, On the orbit structures of SU(n)-actions on manifolds of the type of Euclidean, spherical or projective spaces, Math. Ann. 278 (1987), 71–97.

BURKHARD WILKING

- [16] T. PÜTTMANN, Homogeneity rank and atoms of actions, Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 22 (2002), 375–399.
- [17] C. SEARLE, Cohomogeneity and positive curvature in low dimensions, Math. Z. 214 (1993), 491–498.
- [18] E. STRAUME, Compact differentiable transformation groups on exotic spheres, Math. Ann. 299 (1994), 355–389.
- [19] L. VERDIANI, Cohomogeneity one manifolds of even dimension with strictly positive sectional curvature, J. Differential Geom. 68 (2004), 31–72.
- [20] N. WALLACH, Compact homogeneous Riemannian manifolds with strictly positive curvature, Ann. of Math. 96 (1972), 277–295.
- [21] B. WILKING, Manifolds with positive sectional curvature almost everywhere, Invent. Math. 148 (2002), 117–141.
- [22] _____, Torus actions on manifolds of positive sectional curvature, Acta Math. 191 (2003), 259–297.

(Received November 7, 2003)